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It is with pleasure that I present 
the 2007 Annual Report of the 
Crisis Pregnancy Agency. This was a 
very busy year for the Agency with 
the publication of a new five-year 
Strategy, ‘Leading an Integrated 
Approach to Reducing Crisis 
Pregnancy 2007 – 2011’. 

This is the second strategy in the Agency’s six-year 
history.  Informed by research, consultation and 
evaluation of the previous one, this Strategy will continue 
our work to reduce the number of crisis pregnancies 
through communications, research, education and 
funding. These will be achieved through seven strategic 
priorities.

In February, the Department of Education and Science  
and the Agency published a significant  research report 
on implementation of the Relationships and Sexuality 
Education (RSE) in the context of the Social, Personal 
and Health Education (SPHE) Programme in Post-
Primary schools.  This co-funded and co-managed 
research has enabled a significant understanding of 
the barriers and facilitators to implementing the RSE 
programme in a busy school environment. This research 
underpins a number of steps that the Department of 
Education and Science is undertaking, including working 
with the Agency and the Health Service Executive to 
further improve delivery of RSE to equip young people 
with the knowledge and skills they need to make 
healthy decisions for themselves with regard to their 
relationships and sexual health. 

The Agency believes that parents as a group play the 
central role in the relationships and sexual education 
of their child/children. More than anyone, they give 
young people the confidence they need to develop 
mature attitudes to sex and relationships. Our materials 
for parents include the ‘You can talk to me’ DVD and 
a supplement ‘Parents, make the time to talk’ which 
was produced in 2007 to support parents with practical 
information and strategies for communication.

Foreword from the Chairperson

Foreword
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Research commissioned by the Agency demonstrates a 
clear link between workplace policy and crisis pregnancy 
decision-making.  A range of factors such as career and 
education plans, family and partner support and level of 
financial security will impact on how a woman responds 
to an unplanned pregnancy. Research shows that the 
services and supports facilitated by the workplace are 
required not just by pregnant women in general but in 
particular by women facing crisis pregnancy.

In November, the Agency co-hosted a seminar titled 
‘The Workplace of the Future: Reconciling Pregnancy, 
Parenting and Employment’ with the Centre for Gender 
and Women’s Studies, TCD.  I would like to thank 
Minister for Social and Family Affairs, Martin Cullen 
T.D., for opening the seminar. The event was attended 
by 68 delegates, including employers, trade union 
representatives, human resource executives, academics, 
government officials and NGO representatives. 

The Agency has an extensive funding programme with 
the objective of supporting the mandates of the Agency 
and implementing the Agency’s second Strategy 2007 
– 2011. The programme allocated over €4.5 million to 
a broad range of services in 2007. This money provides 
a range of valuable services to the public. I would like 
to thank these service providers for their dedication to 
providing such a high level of services that are client 
focused.

I would like to thank the members of the Board for 
their hard work and commitment this year. It was a 
particularly busy year with the development of the 
Strategy and the many other new projects the Agency 
undertook. I am very grateful for their additional support 
in 2007. 

I would also like to extend my thanks to Dr Margret 
Fine-Davis and Noreen O’Kelly for giving their time and 
expertise to the Research and Policy Subcommittee and 
the Finance and Audit Subcommittee respectively.

The Consultative Committee is chaired by Geraldine 
Luddy on behalf of the Board. I wish to thank all the 
members for continuing to provide expert advice to the 
Board of the Agency on many areas of interest including 
the development of the Strategy.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank the Minister 
for Health and Children, Mary Harney, T.D.,  for her 
continued support and encouragement of the work of the 
Agency. Minister Harney was very generous with her time 
in 2007 and we are greatly appreciative of that. I would 
also like to thank the many and various officials at the 
Department of Health and Children who have assisted 
with the work of the Agency in 2007.
 
Lastly, I would like to extend my sincere thanks to the 
Director, Caroline Spillane, the management team and 
staff for their assistance, enthusiasm and hard work 
throughout the year, particularly during the process of 
developing the Strategy 2007 – 2011.

Katharine Bulbulia
Chairperson

Katharine Bulbulia, Chairperson, Minister for Health and Children, Mary Harney, T.D., and Caroline Spillane, Director, 
at the Strategy Launch in November 2007
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I am pleased to report that 2007 has 
been a busy and productive year for 
the Crisis Pregnancy Agency.  

The launch of the Strategy ‘Leading an Integrated 
Approach to Reducing Crisis Pregnancy 2007 – 2011’ was 
central to the work of the Agency for 2007 and will guide 
our work over the next four years.

The Strategy provides a framework for understanding 
the causes and consequences of crisis pregnancy and 
sets out priorities for the Agency to pursue in addressing 
the issue.  It takes account of the changing nature of 
Irish society, ongoing developments in the field of sexual 
and reproductive health and changes in the way people 
communicate with each other and access information.  
The Strategy has seven strategic priorities: knowledge 
about relationships and sexuality for adolescents, 
contraception, communications, crisis pregnancy 
services, continuation of pregnancy, research, and policy 
influence.

In 2007, the Agency made great strides in the area of 
improving knowledge about relationships and sexuality 
among adolescents through home-, school- and 
community-based education.  52,000 of the ‘You can talk 
to me’ DVDs and booklets were disseminated to parents. 
Many of these were ordered through our freetext 
number. This resource was created to help parents of 
11-15 year olds talk to their children about relationships 
and sex. 

The Agency also developed a newspaper supplement 
to help parents of 15-17 year olds discuss relationships 
and sexual health with their teenagers. 330,000 copies 
of the supplement were distributed through the Sunday 
Independent in November, giving parents information 
and communication tips on talking to their teenagers 
about relationships, contraception, sexually transmitted 
infections, fertility and social pressure. 

Introduction and Overview of 2007 by the Director

Introduction and Overview
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The Agency’s funding programme allocated over €4.5 
million to a broad range of services in 2007. There was 
significant investment in both new and existing services. 
35 new service-level agreements were negotiated to 
include enhancements to current services and the 
delivery of 17 new pilot projects with both new and 
ongoing services.

In February 2007 the Agency advertised research 
bursaries and research awards to individuals working 
in academic institutions, not-for-profit research 
organisations and non-governmental organisations with a 
research capacity wishing to undertake research in areas 
related to the Agency’s mandates.  As a result three 
projects were funded, in addition to one PhD scholarship. 
We are very much looking forward to receiving the 
findings of these new research pieces. 
 
The development and launch of all these new projects 
would not be possible without the commitment and 
enthusiasm of the staff of the Agency.  I would like to 
thank them for their continued hard work in 2007. I 
would like to thank the many organisations we partnered 
with in 2007 along with the organisations who work with 
us in many aspects of service delivery, particularly those 
delivering crisis pregnancy counselling.

Finally, on behalf of the staff of the Agency I wish 
to thank the Chairperson Katharine Bulbulia and the 
members of the Board for their guidance and support 
during 2007, particularly through the development of the 
Strategy.  I look forward to working together to achieve 
its implementation in the coming years.

Caroline Spillane
Director

A number of very important pieces of research were 
published and launched in 2007. All the work of the 
Agency is underpinned by the findings of our research, 
and in 2007 our research reports helped to address 
a number of gaps and added to the knowledge of the 
Agency. The reports launched this year included research 
on the implementation of the RSE/SPHE programme in 
post-primary schools and research on men’s sexuality. 

Positive Options, the Agency’s campaign aimed at raising 
awareness of State-funded crisis pregnancy counselling 
services to women, was relaunched in September with 
new creative treatments for television, radio and print 
advertising.  The new campaign message is “An unplanned 
pregnancy is not the end of the world”.  The campaign has 
continued to be successful, with 32,671 website visitors 
and 67,056 texts received.  Market research in December 
showed that 75% of women aged 15-49 are aware of 
the Positive Options campaign, with six out of ten women 
saying the advertising made it more likely that they would 
access crisis pregnancy counselling services through the 
Positive Options campaign.

As Positive Options highlights the existence of free crisis 
pregnancy counselling services, it is a priority for the 
Agency to increase the availability and location of these 
services.  In 2007, four new crisis pregnancy counselling 
services were established in Monaghan, Cavan, Gorey 
and Blanchardstown.  This means there are 27 cities and 
towns where crisis pregnancy counselling is available.

In November, the National University of Ireland (NUI) 
Maynooth commenced the delivery of a pilot training 
course in crisis pregnancy counselling skills. The aim 
of the course is to set standards of good practice in 
crisis pregnancy counselling and to up-skill accredited 
counsellors and specifically trained volunteers working 
in the area. The Agency has funded the development 
of this course in addition to funding participation by 31 
candidates working in Crisis Pregnancy Agency funded 
counselling services on this course.

Niall Joye and daughter at the ‘You can talk to me’ photocall in April 2007
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Role of the Agency
The Crisis Pregnancy Agency was established in 
October 2001 under the Health (Corporate Bodies) 
Act, 1961, and is governed by the Crisis Pregnancy 
Agency (Establishment) Order 2001 (S.I. No. 446 of 
2001) as amended by the Crisis Pregnancy Agency 
(Establishment) Order 2001 (Amendment) Order 2007 
(S.I. No. 175 of 2007). 

The primary function of the Agency, as set down in the 
Statutory Instrument, is to prepare and implement a 
strategy to address the issue of crisis pregnancy, in 
consultation with relevant Departments of State and with 
such other persons as are considered appropriate.  

The purpose of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency is to bring 
strategic focus to the issue of crisis pregnancy and so 
to add further value to the work of existing service 
providers.  The Agency’s second Strategy - ‘Leading an 
Integrated Approach to Reducing Crisis Pregnancy 2007 - 
2011’ - was developed and published in 2007. 

The Strategy and Mandates 
of the Agency
The Strategy is the mechanism by which the Agency 
achieves the objectives set out in the three mandates 
specified in the Statutory Instrument. 

Mandate 1: A reduction in the number of crisis 
pregnancies by the provision of education, advice and 
contraceptive services.

Mandate 2: A reduction in the number of women with 
crisis pregnancies who opt for abortion by offering 
services and supports which make other options more 
attractive.

Mandate 3: The provision of counselling services, 
medical services and such other health services for the 
purpose of providing support, after crisis pregnancy, as 
may be deemed appropriate by the Agency.

Role of the Agency
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The Agency’s Way of 
Working: Vision, Mission  
and Principles

Vision

Through the Strategy the Agency works to achieve its 
Vision for a future where:

 Pregnancy and parenting are a welcomed and positive 
experience for women, their partners and families. 

 Crisis pregnancies are experienced less often, but when 
they do occur, women can face and manage the crisis 
without fear for the future because appropriate support 
is available no matter what choice they make.

Mission

The Crisis Pregnancy Agency was established to:

 Develop and support the implementation of a national 
Strategy to address the issue of crisis pregnancy, in 
consultation and partnership with Departments of 
State and relevant agencies.

 Work in partnership with the appropriate agencies 
to promote and co-ordinate the attainment of the 
objectives contained in the Strategy.

 Promote the development by the Departments of 
State and appropriate agencies of an operational 
plan to implement the Strategy in its own sphere of 
responsibility.  Monitor and review the attainment of 
the objectives of such operational plans.

 Produce periodic reports on progress and propose 
remedial action where required.

 Take such measures and engage in such activities as 
it considers necessary to address the issue of crisis 
pregnancy. 

 Draw up codes of good practice for consideration 
by agencies and individuals involved in providing 
services to women with crisis pregnancies.

 Promote and commission research into aspects of 
crisis pregnancy as considered necessary.

 Furnish whenever it is so required by the Minister or 
on its own initiative, advice to the Minister or other 
Ministers of the Government on issues relating to 
crisis pregnancy.

 Perform any other functions in relation to crisis 
pregnancy that the Minister may from time to time 
assign to it.

Working Principles

The work of the Agency in delivering its mandates is 
underpinned by the following principles:

 People centred:  While the woman experiencing 
crisis pregnancy is at the heart of all our decision-
making we also keep the woman’s partner and her 
family in our focus. 

 Evidence based:  All of our actions and activities 
are underpinned by research.  This allows us to have 
an authoritative voice in the field of sexual health, 
reproductive decision-making and crisis pregnancy. 

 Solution focused, innovative and courageous:  
We believe we need to be bold, insightful and 
imaginative in order to challenge and inform, and our 
messages need also to be solution focused. 

 Objective:  We work in an area where people have 
deeply-held, passionate convictions; we maintain 
our objectivity as a State Agency by adhering to our 
mandate, utilising evidence and promoting good 
practice. 

 Value partnership and consultation:  We 
recognise the value of drawing on the expertise and 
experience of others. 

 Accountable:  As a publicly funded body, we are 
very conscious of the need to ensure we combine 
effectiveness with a strong awareness of the need 
for transparent decision-making, to provide value 
for money and to be accountable to the public 
through the Minister and the Department.  We seek 
to learn from our experience; therefore we invest in 
evaluation and continuously improve what we do.  

Crisis Pregnancy Agency Annual Report 2007
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Structure of the Agency

The Board

The Board of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency comprises 
representatives of specified Departments of State and key 
relevant health disciplines and individuals with other specific 
expertise relevant to the operation of the Agency.  The 
Board is an independent body with funding provided by the 
Government, as recommended by the All-party Oireachtas 
Committee on Health and Children. 

The Board Members, appointed by the Minister for Health 
and Children, Mary Harney, T.D., began their five-year term 
on 1st December 2006.  

Board Members at 31ST December 2007

Katharine Bulbulia, Chairperson
Maureen Bohan, Department of Education and Science
Helen Faughnan, Department of Social and Family Affairs
Peter Finnegan, Businessman
Cllr. Sally-Ann Flanagan 

Dr. Anne Flood, Health Service Executive
Fergal Goodman, Department of Health and Children
Rosemary Grant, Coombe Women’s Hospital
Geraldine Luddy, The Women’s Health Council 

The Board of the Agency met 11 times in 2007. 

Katharine Bulbulia Maureen Bohan

Dr. Anne Flood

Helen Faughnan

Fergal Goodman

Peter Finnegan

Rosemary Grant

Cllr. Sally-Ann Flanagan

Geraldine Luddy

Structure of the Agency
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The Consultative Committee

The Statutory Instrument provided for the establishment 
of a 25-member committee, drawing on the expertise of 
various statutory and non-statutory organisations.  The 
function of the Consultative Committee is “to advise 
the Agency in relation to (a) any matters pertaining to 
crisis pregnancy as are referred to it by the Agency and 
(b) any other matters coming within the remit of the 
Agency.” 

The Committee was chaired by Geraldine Luddy on 
behalf of the Board in 2007. 

The Consultative Committee provides expert advice to 
the Board of the Agency and functions as a forum for 
organisations that have an interest in the work of the 
Agency to present their views.

The Consultative Committee met on three occasions 
in 2007.  For a list of members of the Consultative 
Committee, see Appendix 1. 

The Executive of the Agency 

The Agency has 15 members of staff.  The internal 
structure of the Agency is outlined in Figure 1.  

During the year, there were several short-term 
appointments to cover temporary vacancies: Ms Siobán 
O’Brien Green held the position of Health Promotion & 
Education Officer from January 2007 to March 2007.  Ms 
Irene Bergin held the position of Acting Administration 
Manager from November 2007. Ms Stephanie Killoran 
held the position of Programmes and Communications 
Officer from October 2007.  Ms Sarah Moran held the 
position of Programmes and Communications Assistant 
from October 2007.  Ms Roisin Guiry held the position of 
Programmes and Communications Assistant on a work 
experience placement from April 2007.

Director 

Caroline Spillane

Research Officer
Mary Smith

Research & Policy Manager
Dr. Stephanie O’Keeffe

Programmes & 
Communication  Manager

Enda Saul

Administration Manager
Fiona Larthwell

Policy Officer
Vacant

Research Assistant
Maeve O’Brien

Education & Information
Officer

Orla McGowan

Programmes & 
Communication Officer
Tracy Richardson

Acting Programmes &
Communications Assistant

Grace Hillis

Funding Officer
Sarah Ryan

Administration Officer
Aoife Kelly

Administration Assistant
Lynn Dowing

Accounts Clerk
Patricia Wallace

Receptionist/
Director’s PA

Sarah Moran

Figure 1: Internal Structure of the Agency
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Subcommittees

The Board and the Executive of the Agency are 
supported in their work by a range of Subcommittees: 

Research and Policy 
Programmes and Communications 
Finance and Audit
Funding 
Staff
Counselling (Manual and Training) 
Strategy 

These Subcommittees are predominately made up 
of Crisis Pregnancy Agency Board Members and 
are supported in the planning and development by 
members of the Executive.  For membership of the 
Subcommittees, see Appendix 1.

Funding
Officer

Research & Policy
Subcommittee

Board

Consultative
Committee

Programmes &
Communications
Subcommittee

Funding
Subcommittee

Finance & Audit
Subcommittee

Strategy 
Subcommittee Staff Subcommittee

Counselling
(Manual & Training)

Subcommittee

Director

Research & Policy 
Manager

Programmes &
Communications

Manager

Administration
Manager

Director Director Director Director Director Director

Administration
Manager

Administration
Manager

Administration
Manager

Research & Policy 
Manager

Programmes &
Communications

Manager

Staff Representative
(Elected)

Figure 2: Subcommittees of the Board
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Report on the Work of the 
Agency in 2007
This report on the work of the Agency in 2007 is 
organised as follows:

Strategic Plan: ‘Leading an Integrated Approach to 
Reducing Crisis Pregnancy 2007 – 2011’
Programmes and Communications 
Research and Policy
Funding Programme
Administration 

Strategic Plan: ‘Leading 
an Integrated Approach to 
Reducing Crisis Pregnancy 
2007 – 2011’
 
The development of the Agency’s second Strategic Plan: 
‘Leading an Integrated Approach to Reducing Crisis 
Pregnancy 2007 – 2011’ was central to the work of the 
Board in 2007. 

The development process was led by the Strategy 
Subcommittee of the Board, comprising members of 
the Board and Executive.  The development process 
involved close collaboration with the Agency’s staff and a 
wide-ranging consultation process, conducted with over 
100 individuals representing Government departments, 
State bodies, voluntary groups, young people and 
representatives from the private sector.  It was heavily 
informed by the Agency’s extensive research programme 
and by an evaluation of the previous strategic plan.  The 
process also involved the identification of a number of 
Internal Strategic Priorities to strengthen the Agency’s 
organisational capacity to ensure it can deliver on the 
Strategy. 

The Strategy provides a framework for understanding the 
causes and consequences of crisis pregnancy and sets 
out priorities for the Agency to pursue in addressing the 
issue.  It takes account of the changing nature of Irish 
society, ongoing developments in the field of sexual and 
reproductive health and also changes in the way people 
communicate with each other and access information. 

It aims to guide policymakers and service providers 
concerned with promoting positive sexual health and 
preventing and managing crisis pregnancy over a five-
year period. 
 
The Strategy’s central objectives are to achieve a 
reduction in the number of crisis pregnancies, a 
reduction in the number of women choosing abortion as 
an outcome of crisis pregnancy and the safeguarding 
of women’s physical and mental health following 
termination of pregnancy.  It sets out seven strategic 
priorities and associated projects for change to help 
deliver on these objectives. 

Strategy Development - 
Consultation Process

The consultation process took place over the period 
March to May 2007. Consultation was conducted through 
individual meetings, group discussions and telephone 
conversations.  The process sought to elicit and 
document the views of individuals, groups and agencies 
on addressing the broad issue of crisis pregnancy.  
Issues arising from the consultation process were 
analysed by the Executive of the Agency and grouped 
thematically.  Emerging themes are strongly reflected in 
the Agency’s strategic priorities. 

Chairperson and Staff of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency in 2007

Crisis Pregnancy Agency Annual Report 2007
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Strategy Development - 
Research Process 
Since its establishment in 2001 the Agency has 
published 23 research reports related to crisis pregnancy 
prevention and support.  The research programme has 
resulted in a rich body of literature describing crisis 
pregnancy, its prevalence, impact, and factors related to 
its prevention.  Evidence from research and evaluation 
activities undertaken by the Agency over the previous 
five years has put the Agency in a very strong position to 
reliably profile crisis pregnancy in Ireland.  This body of 
research evidence underpinned the strategic discussions 
regarding the 2007 - 2011 period and formed the basis 
of the context section for the Agency’s second strategic 
plan. 

Caroline Spillane, Director, and Katharine Bulbulia, Chairperson, 
at the Strategy Launch in November 2007

Strategy Development
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Strategy Development - 
Strategic Priorities 

The key themes that emerged from the development and 
consultation process were considered by the Strategy 
Subcommittee and the Board. The Board and Executive, 
guided by the Subcommittee, engaged in strategy-
formulation work during the period June to October.  This 
involved the identification of seven strategic priorities for 
the period 2007 – 2011.  These priorities and associated 
projects will enable the Agency to meet its objectives 
more effectively.  The seven strategic priorities are:

1. Knowledge about relationships and sexuality for 
adolescents

 To achieve measurable improvements in knowledge 
about relationships and sexuality among adolescents 
through home-, school- and community-based 
education.

2. Contraception

 To improve access to and information on 
contraception and contraceptive services, particularly 
for groups at risk of crisis pregnancy. 

3. Communications 

 To conduct effective and innovative communications 
campaigns to promote positive behavioural and 
cultural changes regarding sexual attitudes, choices 
and behaviour.

4. Crisis pregnancy services

 To improve access to and delivery of crisis pregnancy 
counselling services and post-abortion medical and 
counselling services.

5. Continuation of pregnancy 

 To improve the range and nature of supports central 
to making continuation of pregnancy more attractive.  
To ensure that women, their partners and families are 
fully informed about these supports.

6. Research 

 To strengthen understanding of the contributory 
factors and solutions to crisis pregnancy; to use 
research findings to promote evidence-based practice 
and policy development.

7.	 Policy	influence

 To influence policymakers and key players regarding 
prevention of crisis pregnancy, reproductive decision-
making and crisis pregnancy outcomes.

 Many of the projects in the Strategy document 
were initiated in 2007 and these are described in 
this report.  The Strategy was launched in Dublin 
on 19th November 2007 by the Minister for Health 
and Children, Mary Harney, T.D.  Favourable and 
extensive media coverage was achieved.  

 Approximately 1,200 copies of the Strategy 
Document and Summary were disseminated in 
printed format, on memory sticks and downloaded 
from the Agency’s website. 

Katharine Bulbulia, Chairperson, and Minister for Health and Children, Mary Harney, T.D., with Board members Fergal Goodman, 
Helen Faughnan, Maureen Bohan and Rosemary Grant at the Annual Report launch in 2007.
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Programmes and 
Communications

Highlights

 The Positive Options campaign was re-developed in 
2007, with a new campaign message: “An unplanned 
pregnancy is not the end of the world.”  New 
television ads, radio ads and print ads were created.  
Awareness levels of the new campaign in December 
2007 were high, with 75% of women recalling the 
new campaign message.  

 52,000 ‘You can talk to me’ DVDs and booklets were 
disseminated to parents in 2007, with 10,800 parents 
ordering the resource through a freetext number, 
promoted through two short advertising and public 
relations campaigns.  The ‘You can talk to me’ resource 
was created to help parents of 11-15 years olds to talk 
to their children about relationships and sex. 

 The Agency developed a newspaper supplement 
to help parents of 15-17 year olds to discuss 
relationships and sexual health with their teenagers.  
330,000 copies of the supplement were distributed 
through the Sunday Independent in November, 
giving parents information and communication tips 
on talking to their teenagers about relationships, 
contraception, sexually transmitted infections, fertility 
and social pressure. 

Background

The Programmes and Communications function is 
managed by the Programmes and Communications 
Manager.  The Manager is supported by a Programmes 
and Communications Officer, an Education and 
Information Officer and a Programmes and 
Communications Assistant.  The Programmes and 
Communications Subcommittee, made up of four Board 
members, oversaw the work of the function in 2007.  The 
Programmes and Communications Subcommittee met 
five times during 2007.  The expenditure for Programmes 
and Communications in 2007 was €2,526,588.  

Supporting the Achievement of the 
Agency’s Mandates and Strategic 
Objectives

The aim of the Agency’s Programmes and 
Communications function is to support the mandates of 
the Crisis Pregnancy Agency and the implementation of 
the Agency’s second Strategy 2007 – 2011.  

The Programmes and Communications function worked 
to achieve this in 2007 by initiating projects central 
to the Agency’s key strategic priorities of increasing 
knowledge about relationships and sexuality for 
adolescents and conducting effective communications 
campaigns.  These priorities were addressed by the 
Agency’s partnership with the Department of Education 
and Science and Health Service Executive (HSE) to 
develop a Relationships and Sexuality Education Pack 
and by re-developing an integrated advertising campaign 
to promote the availability of crisis pregnancy counselling 
services under the banner of ‘Positive Options’.

The Programmes and Communications function works 
to support the Agency’s first mandate to prevent 
crisis pregnancies by creating campaigns, educational 
resources and communications activities that promote 
positive behavioural and cultural changes regarding 
sexual attitudes, choices and actions.

The Programmes and Communications function works 
to support the Agency’s second mandate of providing 
services and supports to those experiencing crisis 
pregnancy through the ‘Positive Options’ information 
campaign, which makes women and their partners aware 
of the availability of free, trustworthy, non-judgemental 
crisis pregnancy counselling services. 

The Agency’s third mandate to provide counselling, 
medical and other health services after crisis pregnancy 
is supported through the creation and distribution of 
resources that build awareness of the availability of these 
services to women and their partners. 

Tracy Richardson, Roisin Guiry, Grace Hillis and Orla McGowan  
at the Positive Options Launch in September 2007

Programmes and Communications
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Overview of 2007

National Advertising and 
Promotional Campaigns

Think Contraception
The ‘Think Contraception’ campaign, aimed at sexually 
active young adults aged 18-24 years, continued with 
its television, cinema and ambient advertising.  In 2007, 
the ‘Think Contraception’ website received 58,646 visits.  
85,637 leaflets were distributed through pharmacies, GP 
surgeries and Student Health Centres in 2007.  Research 
undertaken in December 2007 found that 75% of the 
target audience was aware of the ‘Think Contraception’ 
campaign and its message, “No matter where or when, 
Think Contraception”.  77% agreed that the ‘Think 
Contraception’ campaign makes people more likely to 
think about or plan for the use of contraception. 

‘Think Contraception’ Promotional 
Campaign
The ‘Think Contraception’ Promotional Campaign ran 
from January 2007 to December 2007.  158,000 Think 
Contraception promotional tins were distributed at music 
and sporting events and during the Christmas period.  The 
tins contained a condom and a sexual health information 
mini-leaflet.  Three versions of the mini-leaflet were 
developed to keep the campaign fresh and innovative.  

Positive Options
The ‘Positive Options’ campaign is aimed at all women, 
but particularly 18-24 year old women, to raise 
awareness of State-funded crisis pregnancy counselling 
services.  

In 2007, the Agency developed new creative treatments 
for the ‘Positive Options’ advertising campaign, with the 
assistance of the newly appointed advertising agency 
Rothco.  New television, radio and print advertising was 
created with the new campaign message “An unplanned 
pregnancy is not the end of the world”.  The ‘Positive 

Options’ leaflet, wallet card and website were re-
designed in line with the new campaign.  The revitalised 
advertising campaign for ‘Positive Options’ was officially 
launched in September 2007, and ran in September, 
October and December.
 
Awareness of the new campaign was high – according 
to independent market research, 75% of the target 
audience recalled the new advertising.

The Agency partnered with Unicare to make all ‘Positive 
Options’ resources available in all 61 Unicare pharmacies 
nationwide.

In 2007, 56,793 ‘Positive Options’ leaflets and 27,169 
‘Positive Options’ wallet cards were distributed, primarily 
to GP surgeries and pharmacies.  The website www.
positiveoptions.ie received 32,671 visits.  67,056 text 
messages were received requesting crisis pregnancy 
counselling information.  The Agency placed regionalised 
‘Positive Options’ advertising in the Golden Pages 
nationwide. 

Distribution of the ‘Think Contraception’ tin at Oxegen in July 2007.
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New Information Materials 
in 2007

‘Parents, make the time to talk’

The Agency developed a resource for parents, ‘Parents, 
make the time to talk’, to assist them in communicating 
with their 15-17 year olds about relationships and 
sexual health. The resource, which contains information 
on contraception, sexually transmitted infections and 
current statistics on sexual behaviour among teenagers, 
was disseminated with the Sunday Independent in 2007.  
333,600 copies have been disseminated since November 
2007, of which 330,000 were distributed with the Sunday 
Independent.

Busy Bodies: Information Resource for 
5th and 6th Class Students and their 
Parents 

This booklet for 5th and 6th class students, on sexual 
development and sexual health, was made to accompany 
the Busy Bodies DVD, which is used in primary schools 
and can also be used by parents as a stand-alone 
resource.  This project was managed by the Health 
Service Executive (HSE) South and funded by the Crisis 
Pregnancy Agency.  200,000 copies of the resource will 
be printed in 2008; copies can be ordered through the 
HSE Health Promotion Departments. 

National Resource to Complement the 
Relationship and Sexuality Education 
Pack to Accompany the Senior-Cycle 
Curriculum 

The Agency partnered with the Department of Education 
and Science and the HSE on the development of a 
Relationships and Sexuality Education Pack. The RSE 
pack will consist of a 40-minute DVD, lesson plans and 
interactive classroom games to assist with the delivery 
of RSE to senior-cycle students (15-18 year olds).  The 

overall aim of the project is to provide a resource that 
will be used by teachers in post-primary schools in 
educating 15-18 year olds on human relationships, 
human growth and development and human sexuality, 
which will encourage responsible sexual behaviour and 
decision-making. The DVD component was completed  
in 2007.

Key Contacts

Key Contact for Community and 
Healthcare Professionals in HSE Dublin 
Mid-Leinster
This resource was developed in collaboration with a 
working group of professionals from the HSE Dublin 
Mid-Leinster region.  3,000 copies of the resource 
were printed and disseminated in December.  The 
resource provides a list of service providers in the HSE 
Dublin Mid-Leinster region who can be contacted to 
provide information and support to women with a crisis 
pregnancy.  

Key Contact for Post-Abortion Care
This resource, for professionals who may come into 
contact with a woman who has had an abortion, was 
officially launched at the Irish College of General 
Practitioners (ICGP) Conference and disseminated 
to GPs and other professionals in 2007.  Produced in 
collaboration with the ICGP, it contains information on 
patient care after an abortion.  

Information	Leaflet	on	Care	After	
Abortion
This leaflet aims to increase awareness levels among 
women about post abortion medical check-ups and post-
abortion counselling available free of charge in Ireland.  
The Agency has secured agreement from the UK abortion 
providers that the leaflet be given to women who have 
had a termination of pregnancy.
 

Caroline Spillane, Director, Minister for Health and Children, Mary Harney, T.D., and Katharine Bulbulia, 
Chairperson, with the ‘Parents, make the time to talk’ supplement.
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Distribution of Information 
Materials in 2007

Promotion and Dissemination of ‘You can 
talk to me’ and ‘Contraception 35-55’ 

A promotional campaign was developed in two phases 
in 2007 to promote the ‘You can talk to me’ DVD and 
booklet.  A call to action was included in all advertising, 
encouraging parents to order the DVD and booklet 
through a freetext number.  In the first phase, public 
relations and print advertising in various magazines and 
newspapers was undertaken and online promotion took 
place on the consumer website pigsback.com.

In the second phase, the DVD and booklet were 
advertised on radio.  The campaign ran from 15th 
October to 2nd November to coincide with National 
Parents’ Week.  52,901 DVDs and 53,053 booklets were 
distributed in 2007, including 30,000 copies that were 
disseminated at the Ideal Homes Exhibition in October.

Over 98,969 ‘Contraception 35-55’ leaflets were 
disseminated to GP surgeries and pharmacies in 2007.  
30,000 of these leaflets were distributed at the ‘Off 
the Rails’ fashion show in November and 42,000 at 
the Ladies’ Mini Marathon in June.  The leaflet gives 
information on contraception to 35-55 year old women.  

Caroline Spillane, Director, Katharine Bulbulia, Chairperson, Lynn Doyle, Unicare, 
Julia McGale, Unicare, and Enda Saul, Programmes and Communications Manager, 
at the Positive Options launch in September 2007

Yvonne Joye and son at ‘You can talk to me’ 
photocall in April 2007
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Developing the Agency’s 
Communications Channels 
and Networks

E-newsletter 

The Agency issues an e-newsletter to people and 
organisations working in the area of crisis pregnancy.  
Six e-newsletters were disseminated in 2007, in January, 
March, June, July, September and November.  

Media Relations and Launches 

The Agency issued 17 press releases in 2007 on a 
range of topics, including the cost of contraception, the 
Agency’s new Strategy, workplace issues in relation to 
crisis pregnancy decision-making and the implementation 
of RSE in post-primary schools.  There were six launches 
in 2007, which were event-managed by the Agency 
and which received widespread media attention: the 
launch of the Agency’s new Strategy, the Annual Report 
2006, the RSE Implementation Report, the launch of the 
new ‘Positive Options’ campaign, the Report on Men’s 
Sexuality and Crisis Pregnancy and the Seminar on Crisis 
Pregnancy and Workplace Issues.  

Health and Education Outreach

Incoming USI Student Welfare Officers have been 
trained by the Crisis Pregnancy Agency in the areas 
related to crisis pregnancy and have been made aware 
of the resources available to them.  Welfare Officers and 
Student Health Centres have received comprehensive 
stocks of all Crisis Pregnancy Agency materials for use 
on campus.  The Education and Information Officer gave 
presentations to groups who give Relationships and 
Sexuality Education in schools.  The Programmes and 
Communications Manager gave a ‘Think Contraception’ 
presentation at an international conference entitled 
‘Setting an Ethical Agenda for Health Promotion’ in 
Belgium.

Promotion of Crisis Pregnancy Agency 
Resources 

The Agency ran several advertisements in professional 
medical and counselling publications to raise awareness 
of the resources produced by the Agency for doctors, 
nurses, health promotion workers, social workers and 
other people who may deal with the prevention and 
management of crisis pregnancy in the course of their 
work.  

Crisis Pregnancy Agency Website

In 2007, the Agency’s website www.crisispregnancy.ie 
received 31,735 visits.  A new homepage was developed 
and the content on the website was updated regularly. 

Annual Report

The team liaised with the Administration function to 
produce, launch and publicise the Annual Report for 
2006. 

Strategy

The Programmes and Communications function worked 
with the Director on the development and production of 
the Agency’s second Strategy: ‘Leading an Integrated 
Approach to Reducing Crisis Pregnancy 2007 – 2011.’  
This was launched by Minister for Health and Children, 
Mary Harney T.D., in November 2007.

Minister for Health and Children, Mary Harney, T.D., at the launch of the 2006 Annual Report in July 2007
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Research and Policy
Highlights

 The Agency developed a Research Award and 
Research Bursaries programme in February, under 
which four new projects were funded.  

 In March 2007 the Agency and the Department of 
Education and Science published and launched a 
national study titled ‘Relationships and Sexuality 
Education (RSE) in the context of Social, Personal 
and Health Education (SPHE):  An Assessment of the 
Challenges to Full Implementation of the Programme 
in Post-Primary Schools’.

 The Agency organised a multi-disciplinary seminar to 
raise awareness of the links between crisis pregnancy 
and workplace policy.  The seminar, entitled ‘The 
Workplace of the Future: Reconciling Pregnancy, 
Parenting and Employment’, was organised in 
conjunction with the Centre for Gender and Women’s 
Studies, Trinity College Dublin.

 The Agency published and launched a study entitled: 
‘Men, Sexuality and Crisis Pregnancy: A Study of 
Men’s Experiences’ in May 2007.

Background

The Research and Policy function is led by a Senior 
Manager and supported by a Research Officer, Policy 
Officer and Research Assistant.  The work of the 
Research and Policy function is directed by the Research 
and Policy Subcommittee of the Board, which meets 
regularly.  The Research and Policy Subcommittee 
includes an external research expert.  The Research 
and Policy Subcommittee met six times during 2007.  
The expenditure for Research and Policy in 2007 was 
€397,249.  

Supporting the Achievement of the 
Agency’s Mandates and Strategic 
Objectives

‘Research’ and ‘Policy Influence’ are two of the seven 
strategic priorities of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency.   
The Research Programme aims to strengthen 
understanding of the contributory factors and solutions 
to crisis pregnancy and use research findings to promote 
evidence-based practice and policy development.   
The national policy environment has a direct impact  
on the mandates of the Agency; hence, policy influence 
is another of the Agency’s strategic priorities.   
The Research and Policy function aims to influence 
policymakers regarding crisis pregnancy, reproductive 
decision-making and crisis pregnancy outcomes.   
In 2007 the Research and Policy function published 
several research reports, produced a research summary, 
organised a policy seminar on crisis pregnancy and 
the workplace, worked closely with the Programmes 
and Communications and Funding functions to ensure 
evidence underpinned their work, and played an 
important part in the development of the Agency’s 
second Strategy 2007 – 2011.

Tracy Richardson, Crisis Pregnancy Agency, Catherine Conlon, Research author, Patricia Giblin, HSE West, and Roisin Guiry, 
Crisis Pregnancy Agency, at the ‘Concealed Pregnancy Forum’ held in the Radisson Hotel, Galway on the 17th May 2007
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Overview of 2007

Crisis Pregnancy Agency 
Research and Scholarship 
Awards
In 2007 the Agency successfully developed and 
advertised a process to offer research bursaries and 
research awards to academics and students in areas 
of interest to the Agency’s work.  The rationale behind 
this initiative was to stimulate and strengthen external 
expertise and capacity in the field of sexual health 
and crisis pregnancy and to build upon the work 
already commissioned by the Agency.  The awards and 
scholarships were advertised in February 2007, and by 
the autumn three projects were funded, in addition to 
one PhD scholarship:

Ready to Reproduce?  Teenage Men’s 
Attitudes and Decision–Making in Relation 
to an Unplanned Pregnancy

Dr. Maria Lohan and colleagues, School of Nursing and 
Midwifery in Queen’s University, Belfast, were granted 
a research award to design and pilot a computer-based 
audiovisual tool that will help to provide a deeper 
understanding of male adolescent sexuality, particularly 
in relation to unplanned pregnancy and associated 
unsafe sexual practices.  
 

Parents’ Approaches to Educating their 
Pre-Adolescent and Adolescent Children 
about Sexuality 

Dr. Abbey Hyde and colleagues, University College 
Dublin, were granted a research award to study parental 
communication in relation to sexual health.  This study 
aims to explore parents’ approaches to communicating 
with their pre-adolescent and adolescent children about 
issues relating to relationships and sexuality. 

Discourses on Sexual Responsibility, 
Fatherhood and Masculinity Among Young 
Men from Lower Socio-Economic Groups 

Dr. Elizabeth Nixon and colleagues in the Children’s 
Research Centre, Trinity College Dublin, were granted a 
research award to study sexual-health matters among 
vulnerable men from lower socio-economic backgrounds.  
This study aims to advance understanding of the 
prevalent discourses on sexual responsibility, masculinity 
and fatherhood among young men from lower socio-
economic groups and the relationship of these discourses 
to their behaviour. 

Understanding Concealed Pregnancy in a 
Contemporary Context

Catherine Conlon, School of Social Justice, University 
College Dublin, was successful in her application for a 
Research Scholarship to fund a PhD on understanding 

concealment of pregnancy in the context of the social 
and cultural processes that shape women’s responses 
to pregnancy.  The research will be based on a data-set 
comprising interviews with women who have concealed 
their pregnancies and is scheduled for completion in 
September 2010. 

Research Report Launches

Research on Implementation of the RSE / 
SPHE Programme in Post-Primary Schools

This research was co-funded and co-managed by the 
Department of Education and Science and the Crisis 
Pregnancy Agency.  ‘Relationships and Sexuality Education 
(RSE) in the context of Social, Personal and Health 
Education (SPHE):  An Assessment of the Challenges to 
Full Implementation of the Programme in Post-primary 
Schools’ (Mayock, Kitching & Morgan, 2007) was 
published and launched with the Department of Education 
and Science in February 2007.  A summary of this report 
and a summary in Irish were also published.  All reports 
were disseminated to post-primary schools across the 
State.  Media coverage of the report was significant.  
This research has enabled a significant understanding 
of the barriers and facilitators to implementing the RSE 
programme in a busy school environment.  A large 
number of recommendations made in the report are being 
actively pursued by the Department of Education and 
Science and the Crisis Pregnancy Agency.

“The research shows clearly that there is widespread 

support for both the broad principles and the content of the 

programme from teachers, parents, and health professionals.  

This, when considered along with the strong message from 

the young people interviewed that RSE should be provided in 

schools, points to the positive context within which it can be 

delivered.” 
Mary	Hanafin,	T.D. Minister for Education and Science.
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Research on Men’s Sexuality 

A qualitative study of men’s sexuality was successfully 
launched by the Agency in March 2007.  ‘Men, Sexuality 
and Crisis Pregnancy: A Study of Men’s Experiences’ 
(Ferguson & Hogan, 2007) examined men’s experiences 
of sex and crisis pregnancy and the language used by 
men in discussing sex and crisis pregnancy.  This report 
will help to ensure that work in this area, including the 
work of the Agency, is evidence informed.  A total of 
45 men were interviewed for this in-depth study.  19 of 
these men reported experiencing a crisis pregnancy in 
their lives.  The report found that there was a general 
lack of exposure to sex education among men as a 
whole, which led to a lack of knowledge of fertility and 
contraception.  This finding is in line with nationally 
representative data, which shows that men are not 
receiving adequate sex education in school or in the 
home, although younger men (under 25s) report 
receiving more sex education than older men.  The 
report has also contributed to the Agency’s approach to 
funding crisis pregnancy counselling services so that they 
are more accessible to men. 

“This report marks the first time the Crisis Pregnancy Agency 
has conducted qualitative, in-depth research on men’s 
experiences of crisis pregnancy.  While the Agency has 
concentrated on general access and knowledge of counselling 
services, we will now work towards increasing awareness 
among men that crisis pregnancy counselling services are 
available to them, free of charge, to talk in confidence about 
their experience.” 
Katharine Bulbulia, Chairperson of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency.

Research and Policy 
Development

Relationships and Sexuality Education 
(RSE) Policy 

In 2007 an Agency policy with respect to Relationships 
and Sexuality Education in schools was agreed by the 
Board of the Agency.  This fed into the development of 
the Agency’s Strategy 2007 – 2011.  One large project 
was planned as a result: a project exploring the use 
of outside facilitators in teaching RSE in post-primary 
schools.  This project will be conducted in 2008/2009.

Policy on Parenting in the Workplace 

In 2007 an Agency policy with respect to parenting in the 
workplace was agreed by the Board.  This agreed policy 
and direction fed into the development of the Agency’s 
Strategy 2007 – 2011.  Three main initiatives were 
undertaken in 2007: 

Crisis Pregnancy and Workplace Policy: 
A Seminar to Highlight the Links

A multi-disciplinary seminar was organised to raise 
awareness of the links between crisis pregnancy 
and workplace policy.  ‘The Workplace of the Future: 
Reconciling Pregnancy, Parenting and Employment’ was 
a joint venture between the Crisis Pregnancy Agency 
and the Centre for Gender and Women’s Studies, 
Trinity College Dublin.  By bringing together Irish and 
international speakers, the aim was to raise awareness 
and understanding of the link between parenting, 
pregnancy decision-making and workplace issues, and 
investigate what is required in the workplace of the future 
to support workers who are parents or facing parenthood. 

The seminar was opened by the Minister for Social and 
Family Affairs, Mr. Martin Cullen, T.D.  Ten speakers outlined 
present trends and evidence in the areas of economic 
sustainability and labour-force participation; challenges 
to implementing flexible workplace policies and models of 
best practice; as well as national and international policy 
developments in reconciling work and family life.

The event was well attended by 68 stakeholders from 
various employment sectors including employers, unions, 
human-resource executives, academics, government 
officials and NGO representatives.

“Our research indicates that there are strong linkages 
between parenting, pregnancy decision-making and the 
workplace.  Central to parents and the workplace in such 
situations is childcare.  Workers need to be supported to 
allow them to combine employment with family and personal 
commitments; this is what underpins work-life balance.  
This is an issue that affects workers across the full gamut of 
socio-economic groups and business sectors.” 
Caroline Spillane, Director of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency. 

Minister for Education and Science, Mary Hanafin, T.D., and Katharine 
Bulbulia, Chairperson, at the launch of the research report  ‘Relationships 
and Sexuality Education (RSE) in the Context of Social, Personal and 
Health Education (SPHE): An Assessment of the Challenges to Full 
Implementation of the Programme in Post-primary Schools’, March 2007
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Research Summary on Crisis Pregnancy, 
Parenting and Employment Policy

A research summary leaflet was developed to raise 
awareness of why the Agency has an interest in 
workplace policy.  It was developed for key groups, 
namely employers, employees, policymakers, HR 
managers and representative bodies. 

The summary sought to bring together research to 
describe the link between crisis pregnancy and workplace 
policy and to examine the impact of workplace culture, 
work-life balance policies and maternity issues on 
working women’s decisions to become a parent.  The 
summary includes findings from research reports 
commissioned by the Agency, together with data from 
the National Centre for Partnership and Performance 
(NCPP), the Central Statistics Office (CSO), the Equality 
Authority, the European Commission and UNICEF. 

Employee Assistance Programmes and 
Crisis Pregnancy Support

Links and alliances were established with key 
organisations and individuals working in the area of 
workplace policy and employee support.  Meetings were 
held with several Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) 
operators with the aim of linking in crisis pregnancy 
services.  This would represent a new departure for these 
programmes.  Links with EAP operators in the public 
service will be examined in 2008 to explore this avenue 
as a route for the Agency to highlight issues relating to 
crisis pregnancy.

Policy Submissions

Three policy submissions were developed in 2007:

1.  A letter and briefing paper were sent to the Minister 
for Finance in December on reducing the VAT rate on 
condoms. 

2.  A letter was sent to the Department of the Taoiseach 
as part of the OECD review of Public Service.

3.  A submission was made to the Department of Health 
and Children on the development of their Health 
Strategy.

Other Research Projects
In 2007 a number of new reports were finalised 
including:

 A literature review of the psychological effects of 
abortion.

 Three detailed sub-reports from the Irish Study of 
Sexual Health and Relationships (Layte et al. 2006): 
one dealing with learning about sex, another with 
negative sexual health outcomes and the last with 
sexual knowledge, attitudes and behaviours. 

 A report describing data-collection methods used 
by UK abortion services when documenting women 
travelling from Ireland for abortion services. The 
report also included an analysis of Department of 
Health (UK) trend data over time. 

A study was also initiated to examine the number of 
women travelling to countries other than the UK for an 
abortion.  This involved developing links with non-UK 
service providers, and work was undertaken to set up a 
data-collection and monitoring system.  This project is 
ongoing.  

Fergus Hogan, co-author, Stephanie O’Keeffe, Research and Policy Manager, and Harry Ferguson, co-
author, at the launch of ‘Men, Sexuality and Crisis Pregnancy: A Study of Men’s Experiences’ in June 2007.
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Research Dissemination

Research into Practice: Research 
Summaries and Research Briefings

 Two standard research summary leaflets were 
developed in 2007: a research summary for 
employers, unions and employees examining the links 
between employment policy and crisis pregnancy, 
and an updated research summary on key facts and 
figures related to crisis pregnancy. 

 Two research summary reports were also developed 
internally; these were designed specifically to feed 
into communications projects.  One of these consisted 
of a 40-page report detailing findings of relevance 
to the development of a DVD on Relationships and 
Sexuality Education.  A briefing was also developed 
for an educational resource for parents when talking 
to their adolescents about relationships and sex.

 The Research and Policy function worked with and 
advised the Programmes and Communications and 
Funding functions on evaluation components of their 
work.  The Research and Policy function assisted 
the Programmes and Communications function 
with media launches, articles, media queries and 
interviews on a range of topics.  This involved 
developing briefing documents for members of the 
media and advising on press-release content. 

 In 2007, a project was undertaken to evaluate the 
Agency’s research dissemination processes, more 
specifically dissemination routes to GPs and practice 
nurses.  

 In 2007, an extensive research report dissemination 
project was completed, ensuring that all remaining 
research reports (over 2,000) were posted to 
individuals, groups and organisations with an interest 
in the findings.

E-Newsletter

E-newsletters were disseminated six times during 2007.  
Research and policy developments were key components 
of all editions.

Peter Finnegan, Board Member, welcomes Minister for Social and Family Affairs, Martin Cullen, T.D.,  
at the Workplace Seminar in November 2007
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Funding Programme
Highlights

 The commencement of a certificate-level training 
course in Crisis Pregnancy Counselling Skills in 
partnership with the National University of Ireland, 
Maynooth, in November 2007.

 The development of new service-level agreements 
with 35 new and existing service providers. 

 The establishment of four new crisis pregnancy 
counselling services in 2007. 

 The enhancement of existing services and the funding 
of 17 new pilot projects under a nationally advertised 
Funding Call in 2007.

Background

The Funding Programme is led by the Senior Manager 
responsible for the Administration function and is 
supported by a Funding Officer and an Administration 
Assistant (this post is shared across Administration 
and Funding).  The work of the Funding Programme is 
directed by the Funding Subcommittee of the Board, 
which met seven times in 2007.  The work of the Funding 
Programme is also influenced by the Counselling (Manual 
and Training) Subcommittee of the Board, which met 
four times in 2007.

Funding is allocated by the Agency in accordance 
with criteria, terms and conditions approved by the 
Minister for Health and Children. The current criteria, 
terms and conditions were devised by the Agency in 
2007. Following approval by the Minister they became 
operational on 1st July 2007.    

The aim of the Agency’s Funding Programme is to support 
the mandates of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency and the 
implementation of the Agency’s second Strategy 2007 – 
2011.  The Funding Programme worked to achieve this 
in 2007 by initiating projects central to the Agency’s key 
strategic priorities, as was demonstrated by the Agency’s 
renewed long-term commitment to a number of services, 
in addition to a Funding Call for new pilot projects. 

Supporting the Achievement of the 
Agency’s Mandates and Strategic 
Objectives

The Funding Programme works to support the Agency’s 
mandate to prevent crisis pregnancy by funding projects 
aimed at young people aged 11–24; these include but 
are not limited to: personal development programmes 
for early school-leavers and those at risk, Youth Health 
Information Cafés and the delivery of integrated youth 
health services in partnership with national organisations 
such as the HSE and Foróige.

The Funding Programme works to support the Agency’s 
second mandate of providing services and supports 
to those experiencing crisis pregnancy through the 
provision of free crisis pregnancy counselling services 
for women, their partners and their families, and by 
funding services and supports for new parents and those 
considering adoption. 

The third mandate to provide counselling, medical and 
other health services after crisis pregnancy is primarily 
supported through the funding of post-termination 
counselling and medical services and through the funding 
of postnatal supported accommodation services. 

The work of the Agency’s Funding Programme is 
underpinned by its Funding Criteria Terms and Conditions, 
as approved by the Minister for Health and Children.   

Figure 3: Funding Programme Expenditure by Mandate

Prevention of crisis pregnancy

Post crisis pregnancy services (excluding counselling)

 1%
 16%

 83%

Services and supports for women experiencing a crisis pregnancy

Funding Programme
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Overview of 2007

Commitment to Existing  
and New Services
The Agency’s Funding Programme allocated over €4.5 
million to a broad range of services in 2007.  These 
services aim to reduce crisis pregnancy, to support 
women experiencing crisis pregnancy and to provide 
support after crisis pregnancy by developing supports 
for parents and by supporting the provision of 
counselling and medical services.  In 2007 new service 
level agreements (SLAs) were signed to continue the 
work of many existing services and to develop new 
services.  This resulted in significant investment in both 
existing and new services in 2007.  The Agency worked 
with 12 new services to develop and commence delivery 
of a range of new pilot projects in 2007 (see Funding 
Call 2007). 

35 new agreements were negotiated with service 
providers; these agreements included significant 
investment in enhancements to current services, in 
addition to providing for the delivery of 17 new pilot 
projects with both new and ongoing services.  The 
agreements provide for the delivery of a range of 
services, including but not limited to:

 Free crisis pregnancy and post-termination 
counselling through 14 service providers operating in 
27 cities and towns nationwide.

 The provision of youth health services and 
development and delivery of personal development 
and sexual-health education programmes.

 The availability of supported accommodation services, 
both pre and post natal.

 The development and delivery of parenting support 
programmes, including a number with a focus on 
young men and fathers.

Funding Call 2007
On the 4th April 2007 the Agency advertised in the 
national press a call for expressions of interest.  The 
Agency provided funding of €220,000 as part of this call 
to support the development of creative and innovative 
projects.  This call was based on the following themes:

Funding Call Themes

1. Addressing the knowledge gaps in relationships and 
sexuality education in young people who are early 
school-leavers.

2. Providing training and support for new parents living in 
areas of high deprivation, particularly young parents.

3. Developing courses to enable parents to deliver 
relationships and sexuality education in the home, or 
similar practical initiatives.

4. Engaging employers and educational institutions 
in providing support to women experiencing crisis 
pregnancy – this could be extended to include 
support to encourage women to return to work, study 
or training.

5. Increasing the awareness and engagement of men in 
order to support their partners during crisis pregnancy 
and parenting by making services more accessible.

6. Enhancing the links between counselling service 
providers and adoption agencies with a view to 
improving the presentation of adoption as a choice 
for women experiencing crisis pregnancy.

These themes were identified through their link to the 
three strands of the Agency’s mandate and the Agency’s 
second Strategy 2007 - 2011.  The Agency received 45 
expressions of interest from 40 applicants representing 
both non-Governmental and State organisations.  

Katharine Bulbulia, Chairperson, Caroline Spillane, Director, 
Rosemary Grant, Board Member, Fiona Larthwell, Administration 
Manager with crisis pregnancy counselling service providers at 
the launch of Positive Options, September 2007 
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Based on a review of the 45 expressions of interest 
received, the 17 pilot projects, which are listed in 
Appendix 2, along with all other projects funded by the 
Agency in 2007, and separately in Appendix 2b, were 
short-listed by the Agency’s Funding Subcommittee and 
approved by the Agency’s Board in May 2007.  Grant 
assistance for the projects listed as ‘Pilot Projects’ was 
provided on a pilot basis, subject to the outcomes and 
evaluation of these projects.  

Monitoring of Service 
Provision and Consultation
The Funding Programme continued to monitor service 
provision on a quarterly basis, based on financial, 
statistical and qualitative returns.  As part of the re-
development of the Funding Programme’s processes and 
procedures, a consultation day was held with existing 
service providers in April 2007 to ensure that the 
reporting requirements were appropriate and relevant 
to all parties concerned.  Based on this consultation 
and Agency requirements new reporting templates 
were introduced from Quarter 3, 2007; these were well 
received by service providers. 

Funding Programme 2007 
– Supporting the Delivery 
of the Agency’s Strategic 
Priorities 2007 - 2011
As illustrated in figures 4-5, the Agency funds a broad 
range of services on a nationwide basis.  The following 
are examples of particular projects or services funded 
in 2007 as they relate to the support of three of the 
Agency’s seven strategic priorities 2007 - 2011. 

Figure 4: Funding Programme expenditure by project 
type
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Strategic Priority I – Knowledge 
about Relationships and Sexuality for 
Adolescents:

Achieve Measurable Improvements in 
Knowledge about Relationships and 
Sexuality among Adolescents through 
Home-, School-, and Community-Based 
Education

The Funding Programme has worked to support this 
strategic objective in 2007 by supporting the delivery of 
sexual health information to both young people and their 
parents through a number of projects. For example, in 
2007 the Agency allocated funding to the following pilot 
projects:

Supports for Early School-Leavers and Those  
at Risk: 

 Limerick Youth Service: ‘Safer Teen Open Programme’ 
- to deliver a sexual health education programme for 
teenagers aged 13-16 at risk of early or unplanned 
pregnancy in Limerick City.

 Newbridge and Dun Laoghaire Training Centres: ‘The 
Real Deal’ - a peer-education sexual health training 
programme for 40 female early school-leavers aged 
15-18, based at two training centres in Co. Kildare 
and Dublin.

 SouthWest Counselling Centre, Killarney: ‘Getting 
Real Programme’ - a personal development 
programme for adolescents who are at risk of 
becoming early school-leavers or who are early 
school-leavers  through Youthreach and school-based 
settings in Co. Kerry.

Supports for Parents to Assist with the Delivery of 
RSE in the Home: 

 Irish Family Planning Association (IFPA): ‘Speakeasy’ 
Project – an education programme to support new 
young parents in developing parenting skills and to 
facilitate their delivery of RSE in the home.  This pilot 
is based in four locations in Dublin City Centre and its 
environs. 

 Sexual Health Centre, Cork: Parents’ Education 
Project - development and delivery of once-off 
education sessions for parents on sexual health 
matters to assist in the delivery of RSE in the home.  
This pilot is based in Cork City and its environs.  

 National Parents’ Council – Primary: delivery 
of its ‘Team-Up’ Training to assist parents with 
understanding the RSE curriculum and to support the 
delivery of RSE in the home.  This training is available 
nationwide.

Over €720,000 was allocated to the area of crisis 
pregnancy prevention and sexual health education in 
2007 to both ongoing services and a number of pilot 
initiatives. 

Participants of ‘Getting Real Programme’  at the Southwest 
Counselling Centre, Killarney in 2007
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Strategic Priority IV – Crisis Pregnancy 
Services:

Improve Access to and Delivery of Crisis 
Pregnancy Counselling Services and 
Post-Abortion Medical and Counselling 
Services

As part of this strategic objective, the Agency continued 
to work towards the expansion of existing crisis 
pregnancy counselling services in 2007 and towards the 
establishment of new centres.  

 Two new IFPA services were approved for funding in 
late 2006.  A new IFPA service based in Monaghan 
commenced service delivery in May 2007.  An 
additional new IFPA service is set to commence 
service delivery in Gorey, Co. Wexford in early 2008.  

 A pilot Outreach Service with the existing service 
Pact, serving the Cavan-Monaghan area, entered the 
start-up phase in April 2007, with service delivery 
commencing in September 2007.  

 CURA was allocated funding in July 2007 to develop 
Outreach Centres at both Gorey in Co. Wexford and 
Dingle in Co. Kerry.  The Gorey Outreach Centre 
commenced service delivery in May 2007.  The 
Outreach Service at Dingle is due to open in early 
2008.  

 A new crisis pregnancy counselling and related 
medical service was established with a new provider, 
Femplus Medical Centre, in Blanchardstown, Dublin 
15.  This centre commenced service delivery in 
September 2007. 

Peer Educators on ‘The Real Deal’ sexual health 
training programme.

In addition, a number of existing services received 
funding to provide additional crisis pregnancy and post-
termination counselling hours and for related service 
enhancements. 

A critical component of this strategic objective is to 
work to ensure that services delivered are of a high 
standard and reflect good practice.  Training, continued 
professional development and supervision are integral 
parts of all counselling services.  The Agency has worked 
to support this strategic objective by continuing to 
fund training and supervision with a number of specific 
providers.  In addition, the Agency has worked to 
standardise the delivery of crisis pregnancy counselling 
by the development of a training course in crisis 
pregnancy counselling skills in conjunction with NUI, 
Maynooth.

A further component of this work involves the 
development of a ‘Toolkit’ for the commissioning and 
establishment of new crisis pregnancy counselling 
services.  Work on this project commenced in 2007 
with a public tendering process for the appointment of 
specialists to assist the Agency in this task.   
 

Funding Programme
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Commencement of Pilot Training Course 
in Crisis Pregnancy Counselling Skills

The National University of Ireland, Maynooth, in 
partnership with the Crisis Pregnancy Agency, 
commenced the delivery of a pilot training course in 
crisis pregnancy counselling skills in November 2007. 

This work was overseen by a Course Advisory 
Board, which consists of representatives of the 
Board and Executive of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency, 
representatives of NUI, Maynooth, and representatives 
of the crisis pregnancy counselling service providers 
concerned.  This work was also overseen by the 
Counselling (Manual and Training) Subcommittee of the 
Agency’s Board, which met four times in 2007.  Following 
an interview process, 31 candidates working in Crisis 
Pregnancy Agency funded counselling services, in either 
a paid or voluntary capacity, were selected to participate 
in the pilot training course.  

This pilot training course, which is being delivered in 
two locations - Maynooth, Co. Kildare, and Salthill, Co. 
Galway - is geared towards crisis pregnancy counsellors 
working in agencies funded by the Crisis Pregnancy 
Agency and will be delivered to paid and volunteer 
counsellors over the academic year 2007/2008.  The 
Agency has funded the development of this course in 
addition to funding participation in this pilot. 

The aim of the course is to set standards of good practice 
in crisis pregnancy counselling and to up-skill accredited 
counsellors and specifically trained volunteers working in 
the area.

Over €2.7 million was allocated to the area of crisis 
pregnancy and post-termination counselling in 2007, 
including the improvement of standards through training, 
supervision, and service development. 

Cura (In development)
Dingle

Figure 5: Map of Crisis Pregnancy Counselling Services
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Strategic Priority V – Continuation of 
Pregnancy:

Improve the Range and Nature of 
Supports Central to Making Continuation 
of Pregnancy More Attractive.  Ensure 
that Women, their Partners and Families 
are Fully Informed about these Supports

The Funding Programme has worked to support this 
strategic objective in 2007 by supporting a mix of 
pilot initiatives aimed at increasing the awareness and 
engagement of men, particularly younger men, in the 
support of their partners during crisis pregnancy and 
parenting and initiatives aimed at women, particularly 
young women, who need a high degree of support 
in progressing with their pregnancy and coping with 
parenting.  These include but are not limited to the 
following:

 Carrick-on-Suir Neighbourhood Youth Project - 
development and delivery of parenting support 
programmes for young mothers and expectant 
teenage mothers and the provision of support 
programmes to young fathers.  This pilot is based in 
Carrick-on-Suir, Co. Tipperary. 

 Mary Immaculate College, Student-Parent 
Coordinator - provision of supports for student 
parents and those experiencing crisis pregnancy to 
facilitate their remaining in education.  This pilot is 
based in Limerick City.  

 Teen Parent Support Programme, Co. Louth - 
development and delivery of parenting skills 
programmes to young fathers to assist them to 
support partners during crisis pregnancy and 
parenting.  This pilot is based in Co. Louth.

Over €1 million was allocated to the provision of services 
and supports for those experiencing crisis pregnancy 
in 2007 to both ongoing services and a number of pilot 
initiatives. 
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Administration

Budget

The Agency is funded through annual grants from the 
Government, via the Department of Health and Children, 
as recommended by the Oireachtas All-Party Committee 
on Health and Children. This funding is provided in line 
with the provisions set out in the Statutory Instrument 
for its establishment, which state that “The Minister may 
pay to the Agency in each year out of moneys provided 
by the Oireachtas, a grant or grants of such amount or 
amounts as the Minister may decide.”

Highlights

 The 2007 Service Plan and the mid-year review were 
produced and submitted to the Department of Health 
and Children.  In December, the Agency conducted 
operational planning.

 The appointed internal auditors performed a review 
of corporate governance, internal financial control, 
procurement, and internal communications.

Background

The Administration function is led by a Senior Manager 
and supported by an Administration Officer, a Funding 
Officer, an Administration Assistant, an Accounts Clerk 
and a Receptionist/Director’s PA.  The work of the 
Administration function is directed by the Finance and 
Audit Subcommittee, which met five times in 2007.  The 
Finance and Audit Subcommittee includes an external 
finance expert, for advice on technical matters.  This 
Subcommittee’s meetings are also periodically attended 
by the Agency’s internal auditors.  The work of the 
function is also influenced by the Staff Subcommittee 
of the Board, which convenes ad hoc as specific issues 
arise.

Financial Summary

During 2007 the Agency received grant income of 
€8,574,000 from the Department of Health and 
Children.  This was to support the delivery of the 
objectives set out in the service plan for 2007.  This 
represented an increase of 5% over the previous year 
(2006: €8,140,000).  The Agency experienced a minor 
overspend against its funding from the Department 
of Health and Children for the year of approximately 
€46,000 or -0.1%, which was offset against the 
accumulated surplus brought forward, resulting in 
an accumulated deficit at 31st December 2007 of 
approximately €30,000 or -0.2%. As in previous years 
the majority of the Agency’s expenditure (over 85%) was 
on activities with a direct focus on the public, including 
grants for counselling and other projects, advertising 
campaigns and information resources.

Financial Management and Governance

During 2007, the main financial management tasks 
performed by the Administration function were:

 Preparation of monthly financial reports throughout 
the year, which were reviewed by both the Finance 
and Audit Subcommittee and the Board.

 Management and preparation of the 2006 financial 
statements, which were audited by the Comptroller 
and Auditor General in April 2007.

 Management of the day-to-day processes relating to 
expenditure of the Agency, including payroll, and the 
superannuation scheme, as well as procurement and 
tendering processes.

The Administration function will continue to review 
the proportion of administrative costs against service 
provision to ensure that they remain reasonable.

Roisin Guiry, Fiona Larthwell, Grace Hillis, Sarah Ryan, Patricia Wallace, Lynn Dowling and Sarah Moran in 2007
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Internal Audit

As a State body, the Agency is required to operate in 
accordance with good practice by adhering to those 
policies and procedures that affect the way the Agency 
is organised and controlled.  In particular, the Agency is 
required to operate in accordance with the Department 
of Health and Children’s Framework for Corporate and 
Financial Governance and the Code of Practice for the 
Governance of State Bodies issued by the Department of 
Finance, which set out the practices for good governance 
and clear lines of accountability.  Application of good 
practice in Governance by the Board and Subcommittees 
allow for effective control over the Agency’s operations 
and robust monitoring of delivery.

Deloitte and Touche were appointed as internal auditors, 
following a tendering process.  As part of the Agency’s 
commitment to good governance, during 2007 Deloitte 
and Touche performed reviews of: 

 Corporate governance;

 Internal financial control; 

 Procurement; 

 Internal communications.

The Administration function prepared and submitted 
required documentation to the Department of Health and 
Children during the year, including the 2007 service plan 
and its mid-year review, the Annual Report, the financial 
statements and the annual budgets, as well as monthly 
financial reports.

Annual Report

The Administration function liaised with the Programmes 
and Communications function to produce the Annual 
Report for 2006.  This was launched by Minister for 
Health and Children, Mary Harney, T.D.

Finance and Audit Subcommittee

The Finance and Audit Subcommittee met five times 
during 2007.  This Subcommittee reviewed financial 
reports produced by the Agency, including the monthly 
management accounts and the statutory financial 
statements.  This Subcommittee also reviewed the 
findings of the internal and external auditors.

Staff Management

The Agency continued to build and develop an 
organisation with an effective structure and an 
affirmative culture.  The Agency is proud of its reputation 
for being a dynamic organisation with a committed and 
motivated staff; therefore it recognises the need to 
maintain a challenging, engaging and inclusive working 
environment.

In 2007 there were two open recruitment competitions 
to recruit staff to key positions in the Agency - those 
of Administration Officer and Interim Administration 
Manager.  A full-time Funding Officer was also appointed.

Superannuation

The Administration function liaised with the Board 
and with the Department of Health and Children’s 
Superannuation Section throughout the year to progress 
the approval of the Spouses’ and Children’s element 
of the Staff Superannuation Scheme.  The main 
superannuation scheme was signed in May 2007.

Staff Subcommittee

The Staff Subcommittee convened twice during the year.  
This Subcommittee is convened when there are specific 
items to discuss.  

Human Resource Management 

The Administration function continued to operate the 
day-to-day human resource functions throughout the 
year including recruitment, induction and management 
of leave (including annual leave, sick leave and maternity 
leave).

A Fire Officer and a Health and Safety Co-ordinator were 
appointed.  The Agency placed an increased focus on 
health and safety, and the Agency’s Health and Safety 
Statement was updated to take account of legislative 
changes. 

Information and Communications 
Technology

The majority of the ICT functions of the Agency are 
outsourced to an external provider.  Regular reviews 
were conducted of the performance of the Agency’s 
external IT providers.  Key hardware and software 
upgrades were implemented throughout the year.

Customer Charter 

The Crisis Pregnancy Agency is committed to providing a 
high standard of service to our customers, both internal 
and external.  The Administration function developed a 
Customer Charter for the Agency.  The Customer Charter 
sets out the standards of service our customers can 
expect to receive from us.  This document can be found 
on the Agency’s website.

Administration
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Crisis Pregnancy Agency

Statement of Responsibilities of the Board

Section 17 of Statutory Instrument No. 446 of 2001 Crisis Pregnancy Agency (Establishment) Order, 2001, as 
amended by the Crisis Pregnancy Agency (Establishment) Order 2001 (Amendment) Order 2007 (S.I. No.175 of 
2007) requires the Board to keep all proper and usual accounts of all moneys received or expended by it including 
an income and expenditure account and a balance sheet.  

In preparing those financial statements, the Board is required to:

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless a decision is taken for the Agency not to 
continue in operation; and

 follow applicable accounting standards, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the 
financial statements.

The Board is responsible for keeping proper books of account that disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, 
the financial position of the Board and that enable it to ensure that the financial statements comply with Section 
17 of Statutory Instrument 446, 2001, as amended by the Crisis Pregnancy Agency (Establishment) Order 2001 
(Amendment) Order 2007 (S.I. No.175 of 2007). The books of account are held at the Agency’s headquarters at 
89 – 94 Capel Street Dublin 1.  The Board is also responsible for safeguarding its assets and for taking reasonable 
steps to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Board confirms that it has complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

____________________________ 
Chairperson

____________________________  
Director
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Statement on Internal Financial Control

On behalf of the Board of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency, I acknowledge our responsibility for ensuring that an 
effective system of internal financial control is maintained and operated.

The system can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions 
authorised and properly recorded, and that material errors or irregularities are either prevented or would be 
detected in a timely period.

The Board has taken steps to ensure an appropriate control environment is in place by:

• clearly defining management responsibilities and powers;

• establishing formal procedures for monitoring the activities and safeguarding the assets of the organisation; and

• developing a culture of accountability across all levels of the organisation.

The system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management information, administration 
procedures including segregation of duties, and a system of delegation and accountability.  In particular, it includes: 

• a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual budget that is reviewed and agreed by the Board;

• regular reviews by the Board of periodic and annual financial reports that measure financial performance against 
forecasts;

• setting targets to measure financial and other performance; and 

• formal project management disciplines.

The internal audit function is overseen by the Finance and Audit Subcommittee of the Board in line with the 
Framework standards set out in the Code of Governance of State Bodies.  The internal audit function provided the 
Board with a report on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal financial control during the year.  
No significant concerns were highlighted by this report.

The Finance and Audit Subcommittee also oversees the work of the senior management within the Agency who have 
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the financial control framework and for implementing the 
comments made by the Comptroller and Auditor General in his management letter.

I confirm that the internal financial control system was reviewed by the Board.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

____________________________  
Chairperson
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Statement of Accounting 
Policies

1  Basis of Accounting

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles under 
the historical cost convention and the accounting 
policies directed by the Minister for Health and 
Children. The accounting and reporting standards 
recommended by the recognised accountancy bodies 
are adopted as they become operative, except as 
indicated below. 

2 Grant Income (Revenue Grants)

 Grant Income represents the total amount of revenue 
funding from the Department of Health and Children 
recognised on a cash receipts basis for the year.

 Grant Income applied for capital purposes resulting in 
additions to fixed assets are capitalised in the Capital 
Account.

3 Programme Expenditure

 The Agency provides a wide range of services through 
funded programmes and research activities which 
includes the commissioning of certain services from 
external provider agencies.  

 Grants to external service providers are recognised in 
the financial statements based upon amounts payable 
under the conditions set down in signed service level 
agreements approved by the Board.  

4 Fixed Assets

 All fixed assets acquisitions, regardless of the source 
of funds, are capitalised with the exception of assets 
funded from Revenue (Non-Capital) grants with a 
value below the following thresholds: 

 Office Equipment / Furniture and  
Fittings etc.   less than €3,810 

 Computer / ICT Equipment            less than €1,270  

 Tangible Fixed Assets are stated at their historical 
cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation.

     Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis at 
rates which are calculated to write off the assets, 
adjusted for estimated residual value, over their 
expected useful lives as follows :   

 (i) Leasehold Improvements 10%                    
 Straight line

 (ii) Furniture and Fittings 12.50 - 25%         
 Straight line

 (iii)  Computer Equipment 33%                 
 Straight line

5 Capital Account

 The capital account represents the unamortised 
amount of income allocated for the purchase of fixed 
assets.

6 Superannuation

 The Agency has established a Superannuation 
scheme with the consent of the Minister for Health 
and Children and the Minister for Finance in 
accordance with Article 20 of Statutory Instrument 
No. 446, 2001, as amended by the Crisis Pregnancy 
Agency (Establishment) Order 2001 (Amendment) 
Order 2007 (S.I. No.175 of 2007). The Main Scheme 
is based upon the Model Superannuation Scheme 
for State-sponsored bodies which provides for a 
contributory defined benefit pension scheme for all 
employees. 

 Superannuation entitlements arising under the 
pension scheme are funded out of current income 
of the Agency. Pension payments are charged to the 
Income and Expenditure Account in the year in which 
they become payable. 

 Contributions from employee salaries under the 
scheme are credited to the Income and Expenditure 
Account when received. 

 By direction of the Minister for Health and Children, 
no provision is made in the financial statements in 
respect of future pension benefits payable.
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Report of the Comptroller 
and Auditor General for 
Presentation to the Houses 
of the Oireachtas
I have audited the financial statements of the Crisis 
Pregnancy Agency for the year ended 31 December 2007 
under Section 5 of the Comptroller and Auditor General 
(Amendment) Act 1993.

The financial statements, which have been prepared 
under the accounting policies set out therein, comprise 
the Statement of Accounting Policies, the Income and 
Expenditure Account, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow 
Statement and the related notes.

Respective Responsibilities of the Agency 
and the Comptroller and Auditor General

The Crisis Pregnancy Agency is responsible for preparing 
the financial statements in accordance with the Crisis 
Pregnancy Agency (Establishment) Order 2001 and 
for ensuring the regularity of transactions. The Agency 
prepares the financial statements in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland as 
modified by the directions of the Minister for Health and 
Children in relation to accounting for superannuation 
costs. The accounting responsibilities of the Members 
of the Agency are set out in the Statement of 
Responsibilities of the Board. 

My responsibility is to audit the financial statements 
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland).

I report my opinion as to whether the financial 
statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland. I also 
report whether in my opinion proper books of account 
have been kept. In addition, I state whether the financial 
statements are in agreement with the books of account.

I report any material instance where moneys have not 
been applied for the purposes intended or where the 
transactions do not conform to the authorities governing 
them.

I also report if I have not obtained all the information 
and explanations necessary for the purposes of my audit.

I review whether the Statement on Internal Financial 
Control reflects the Agency’s compliance with the Code 
of Practice for the Governance of State Bodies and 
report any material instance where it does not do so, 
or if the statement is misleading or inconsistent with 
other information of which I am aware from my audit of 
the financial statements. I am not required to consider 
whether the Statement on Internal Financial Control 
covers all financial risks and controls, or to form an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the risk and control 
procedures.

I read other information contained in the Annual Report, 
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
financial statements. I consider the implications for my 
report if I become aware of any apparent misstatements 
or material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

Basis of Audit Opinion

In the exercise of my function as Comptroller and Auditor 
General, I conducted my audit of the financial statements 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board 
and by reference to the special considerations which 
attach to State bodies in relation to their management 
and operation.  An audit includes examination, on a 
test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and 
disclosures and regularity of the financial transactions 
included in the financial statements.  It also includes an 
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments 
made in the preparation of the financial statements, 
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate 
to the Agency’s circumstances, consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed.

I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations that I considered necessary 
in order to provide me with sufficient evidence to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming my opinion 
I also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation 
of information in the financial statements.

Opinion

As explained in the Statement of Accounting Policies, 
the Agency recognises the costs of superannuation 
entitlements only as they become payable.  This policy 
does not comply with Financial Reporting Standard 17 
which requires such costs to be recognised in the year 
the entitlements are earned.  While non-compliance with 
Financial Reporting Standard 17 does not impact on the 
overall financial performance or position of the Agency 
as disclosed in the financial statements, in my opinion 
compliance is necessary for a proper understanding 
of the costs of providing the superannuation benefits 
earned by employees during the year and of the value of 
the benefits that the Agency has committed to providing 
in respect of service up to the year end.

Except for the non-recognition of the Agency’s 
superannuation costs and liabilities, which is not in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 17, 
the financial statements give a true and fair view, 
in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles in Ireland, of the state of the Agency’s affairs 
at 31 December 2007 and of its income and expenditure 
for the year then ended.

In my opinion, proper books of account have been 
kept by the Agency. The financial statements are in 
agreement with the books of account.

John Buckley 
Comptroller and Auditor General
23 May 2008

36

Financial Statements



Income and Expenditure Account for the Year Ended  
31 December 2007

 Note 2007 2006
Income  € €
Grant Income  1 8,574,000 8,140,000
Other Income 2 142,694 - 
  8,716,694 8,140,000
Transfers from/(to) Capital Account 10 (3,559) 28,658
    
Total Income  8,713,135 8,168,658
    
Expenditure    
Staff Costs 3 771,863 665,543 
Service Programmes 4 7,044,326 6,778,477
Research Projects 5 397,249 257,415
Office and Administration Expenses 6 509,002 472,230
Board Expenses  36,738 19,513

Total Expenditure  8,759,178 8,193,178
    
(Deficit)	for	the	year		 	 (46,043)	 (24,520)
Accumulated Surplus at 1 January  15,921 40,441

Accumulated	Surplus/(Deficit)	at	31	December	 	 (30,122)	 15,921

All recognised gains and losses for the year ended 31st December 2007 have been dealt with through the Income 
and Expenditure Account.

The Statement of Accounting Policies together with Notes 1 to 16 form part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

Chairperson:____________________________  Director: ____________________________

Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2007
 Note 2007 2006
Fixed assets  € €
Tangible Assets 7 103,839 100,280
    
Current Assets    
Debtors and Prepayments 8 22,782 140,650
Cash at Bank and in Hand  506,628 145,546

  529,410 286,196
Current Liabilities    
Creditors (Amounts falling due within one year) 9 559,532 270,275
Net	Current	Assets/(Liabilities)	 	 (30,122)	 15,921

Total Assets less Current Liabilities  73,717 116,201
    
Capital and Reserves    
Capital Account 10 103,839 100,280
Income and Expenditure Surplus/(Deficit)  (30,122) 15,921

  73,717 116,201

The Statement of Accounting Policies together with Notes 1 to 16 form part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

Chairperson:____________________________  Director: ____________________________
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Cash Flow Statement 
Year Ended 31 December 2007
 2007 2006
 € €
Reconciliation	of	Surplus/(Deficit)	to	Net	Cash	Flow	from	 
Operating Activities   
 
(Deficit) for the year (46,043) (24,520)
Transfer to/(from) Capital Account 3,559 (28,658)
Depreciation Charge (including disposals) 48,816 37,285
Interest Income received for the year (558) -
(Increase)/Decrease in Debtors 117,868 (114,208)
Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors 289,257 (210,201)
   
Net	Cash	Inflow/(Outflow)	from	Operating	Activities	 412,899	 (340,302)
   
Cash Flow Statement
   
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities 412,899 (340,302)
   
Return on Investments and Servicing of Finance   
 
Bank Interest Received 558 -
  
Capital Expenditure   
 
Payments from Revenue Grant to acquire Fixed Assets (52,375) (8,627)

Net	Cash	Inflow/(Outflow)		 361,082	 (348,929)
   
Increase/(Decrease)	in	Cash	in	the	Year	 361,082	 (348,929)
 
Reconciliation of Net Cash Flow to Movement in Net Funds   
 
Increase/(Decrease) in Cash in the Year   361,082 (348,929)
Net Funds at Start of the Year 145,546 494,475
    
Net	Funds	at	End	of	the	Year	 506,628	 145,546
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 1: Grant Income
 2007  2006
 €  €

Department of Health and Children – Oireachtas Grant 8,574,000  8,140,000

The accounting policy for the Department of Health and Children grant income has been  changed from recognising 
the allocation received from the Department of Health and Children for the year, to the grant income received in 
the year. This change in policy has no effect on previously reported accounts. 

Note 2: Other Income
 2007  2006
 €  €
Superannuation Contributions 141,289  -
Bank Interest received                                            558  -
Miscellaneous Income                                             847  -

Balance as at 31 December 142,694  -

Note 3: Staff Costs
 2007  2006
 €  €
Wages & Salaries 701,884  608,248
Social Welfare Costs 69,979  57,295
Superannuation                                           -  -
 771,863  665,543
Staff Numbers   
Senior Management 4  4
Administration  4  4
Service Programmes 5  4
Research and Policy 2  1

 15  13
   
The total of staff employed at 31st December 2007 comprised 14 (2006:11) permanent employees and 1 (2006:2) 
employed on a temporary basis. 

Note 4: Service Programmes
 2007  2006
 €  €
(a)	Funding	Programmes	*   
Services and supports for women experiencing crisis pregnancy 1,056,260  1,483,395
Core funding 1,648,575  1,301,740
Counselling services 824,370  856,744
Prevention of crisis pregnancy 721,792  614,210
New developments 227,364  70,420
Post crisis pregnancy services and supports 39,377  42,620

 4,517,738  4,369,129
    
(b)	Programmes	and	Communications		 	 	
Prevention of crisis pregnancy 1,408,062  1,165,003
Services and supports for women experiencing crisis pregnancy 941,947  1,127,910
Communication services 91,887  76,673
Post crisis pregnancy services and supports 21,566  39,762
Conferences and seminars 32,126  -
Communications partnerships with external agencies 31,000  -

 2,526,588  2,409,348

Total  7,044,326  6,778,477

* Appendix 2 to the Annual Report analyses the above funding under various programme headings for our Core and Non-Core Service 

Providers (previous year comparatives also presented).
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Note 5: Research Projects 
  2,007  2,006 
  € €
Research grants, bursaries and commissions 
Grants  147,560  -
Bursaries  18,273  -
Commissions  - 32,363 

  165,833  32,363 
Policy & guidelines  
Abortion Figures EU Research  4,563  -
Post Abortion Literature Review  17,263  -
Policy and Thematic Papers  7,375  -

  29,201  -                
  
Dissemination  66,063  97,279 
  
Evaluation of Communications Initiatives  37,127  56,447 
  
Evaluation of the Strategy 2004-2006 and Development of  
the Strategy 2007-2011  75,942  -                       
  
Irish Study of Sexual Health and Relationships  20,213  49,966 
  
Evaluation of the Funding Programme  - 12,684 
  
Research services  2,870  8,676 

  397,249  257,415 

Note 6: Office & Administration Expenses
  2007 2006
  € €
Rent  115,864 115,863
Staff-related expenses  77,754 112,342
Office supplies  81,663 65,443
Utilities and insurance  66,466 44,698
Professional fees  53,990 39,169
Depreciation  48,816 37,271
Fixtures, Equipment & ICT - not capitalised  50,337 45,017
Audit fee  12,750 11,000
Miscellaneous  1,362 1,427

  509,002 472,230
 

Note 7: Fixed assets
 Furniture &  ICT Hardware Leasehold 
 Equipment  & Software Improvements Total
 €  €  €  €  
Cost     
Balance as at 1 January 127,239  117,995  121,503  366,737 
Additions - 52,375 - 52,375
Disposals - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 127,239 170,370 121,503 419,112
     
Accumulated Depreciation     
Balance as at 1 January 101,905  103,864  60,688  266,457
Charge for the year 8,184 28,482 12,150 48,816
Disposals - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 110,089 132,346 72,838 315,273
     
Net Book Value     
   
Balance as at 31 December 2007 17,150 38,024 48,665 103,839
     
Balance as at 31 December 2006 25,334  14,131  60,815  100,280 
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Note 8: Debtors and Prepayments
  2007 2006
  € €
Prepayments  22,782 110,650
Other Debtors : Department of Education and Science  - 30,000
   
  22,782 140,650

Note 9: Creditors and Accruals
  2007 2006
  € €
Trade creditors  504,907 65,075
Pension deductions  - 109,084
Accruals  54,625 94,087
Withholding tax  - 2,029

  559,532 270,275

Note 10: Capital account
  2007 2006
  € €

Balance as at 1 January  100,280 128,938
   
Transfer to/(from) Income and Expenditure Account:   
Funds allocated to acquire Fixed Assets (capitalised)   52,375 8,627
Amount amortised in line with Asset Depreciation  (48,816) (37,271)
  3,559 (28,644)
Disposals  - (14)

Balance as at 31 December  103,839 100,280

Note 11: Contingent Liabilities

The Agency’s lease for office premises was due for review on the 15th June 2006. The review was expected to 
take place in 2007 but this has not yet taken place. The review is expected to take place in 2008, however an 
entitlement exists whereby the increase may be backdated to the date on which review was due.

The increase is not expected to be greater than 10%, however at this time both the amount of the increase and the 
exercising of the option to backdate the increase remain uncertain. The Agency has therefore elected to disclose 
this as a contingent liability, in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 12, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Assets.

Note 12: Capital and other commitments

a)  There were no capital commitments as at the 31st of December 2007.

b) The Agency has commitments under an operating lease for office accommodation in respect of the property at 
Capel Street, Dublin with an annual rental of €115,864 (2006: €115,864) which is due to expire in 2012.  
The lease provides for rental reviews every five years. 

As discussed in note 11, “Contingent Liabilities”, a review of the annual rent was due on the 15th June 2006; 
however this has not yet taken place. The increase is not expected to be more than 10%; an increase of this 
amount would result in the future commitment being €127,450 per annum.

Note 13: Disclosure of Board Members’ interests

The Board has adopted procedures in accordance with guidelines issued by the Department of Finance in relation to 
the disclosure of interests by Board members and these procedures were adhered to in the year.  

There were no transactions in the year in relation to the Board’s activities in which Board Members had any 
beneficial interest.
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Note 14: Related Parties   

The Minister for Health and Children is a related party as she underwrites the assets and liabilities of the Agency 
and appoints all members of the Board of the Agency.

Note 15: Comparative Figures  

Some changes have been made to the presentation of certain items in the financial statements for 2007 and 
consequently the comparative figures for 2006 have been restated where necessary, on a basis consistent with the 
current year presentation. 

Note 16: Approval of the Financial Statements

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board on 13th May 2008.
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Appendix 1:  Membership of 
the Consultative Committee 
and Subcommittees of the 
Board

Members of the Consultative Committee 
to the Crisis Pregnancy Agency as 
appointed by the Minister for Health and 
Children.

Chairperson: 
 
Ms Geraldine Luddy 
Director, the Women’s Health Council and Board 
Member, Crisis Pregnancy Agency

Members: 
 
Ms Ursula Byrne 
Education Officer and representative of An Bord Altranais

Dr Michael Darling 
Consultant Obstetrician and representative of Church of 
Ireland Bishops (to April 2007)

Reverend Bruce Pierce 
Representative of Church of Ireland Bishops (from April 
2007)

Ms Julie Kerins 
Senior Social Worker, Cúnamh, and representative of 
Council of Irish Adoption Agencies

Ms Louise Graham 
National Co-ordinator and representative of Cura

Ms Alison Begas 
Chief Executive and representative of Dublin Well Woman

Ms Frances Shearer 
RSE National Co-ordinator and representative of the 
Education Sector (from February 2007)

Ms Catherine Duffy 
National Planning Specialist and representative of 
Primary Care, HSE West

Dr Ailís Ní Ríain 
Director, Women’s Health Programme, and 
representative of Irish College of General Practitioners 
(to March 2007)

Ms Naoimh Kenny 
Assistant Director, and representative of Irish College of 
General Practitioners (from March 2007)

Ms Rhonda Donaghy 
Chair and representative of ICTU Women’s Committee 
(from June 2007)

Ms Sunniva McDonagh 
Barrister at Law and representative of Irish Episcopal 
Conference (from March 2007)

Ms Rosie Toner 
Director of Counselling and representative of the IFPA

Ms Kay Garvey 
Nurse, and representative of Irish Nurses’ Organisation

Ms Karen Dent 
Member and representative of National Parents’ Council 
Post Primary

Ms Salome Mbugua 
National Director, Akidwa, and representative of non-
Irish nationals

Ms Sherie de Burgh 
Director of Counselling, and representative of One Family

Ms Mary Keogh 
Representative of people with disabilities (to July 2007)

Ms Noelle Ryan 
Taoiseach’s nominee 

Ms Rosaleen McDonagh 
Project Officer, Pavee Point, and representative of the 
Traveller Community

Ms Margaret Dromey 
CEO and representative of Treoir (to June 2007)

Ms Margot Doherty 
Assistant CEO and representative of Treoir (from 
September 2007)

Representative of Institute of Obstetrics and 
Gynaecology - Vacant

Memberhip of the Subcommittees  
of the Board
The membership of subcommittees outlined 
below is as of 31st December 2007

Funding Subcommittee
This subcommittee advises the Board in relation to the 
development and management of the Agency’s funding 
programme.

Members: 
Ms Rosemary Grant (Chairperson of Subcommittee and 
Board Member) 
Mr Fergal Goodman (Board Member)
Cllr Sally-Ann Flanagan (Board Member) 

In attendance: 
Ms Caroline Spillane (Director)
Ms Fiona Larthwell (Administration Manager)
Ms Sarah Ryan (Funding Officer)

Administrative Support:
Ms Lynn Dowling

Irene Bergin (Acting Administration Manager) served on 
this Subcommittee from November 2007.  Lynn Dowling 
(Administration Assistant) provided administrative 
support from November 2007. 

Finance and Audit Subcommittee
This subcommittee advises the Board on all matters 
relating to the financial management of the Agency.
 
Members: 
Mr Fergal Goodman (Chairperson of Subcommittee and 
Board Member) 
Ms Geraldine Luddy (Board Member)
Ms Noreen O’Kelly (External) 
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In attendance:
Ms Caroline Spillane (Director)
Ms Fiona Larthwell (Administration Manager) 
Ms Aoife Kelly (Administration Officer)

Administrative Support
Ms Lynn Dowling

Irene Bergin (Acting Administration Manager) served on 
this Subcommittee from November 2007. 

Research and Policy Subcommittee
This subcommittee advises the Board in relation to all 
matters pertaining to the research function.

Members: 
Ms Helen Faughnan (Chairperson of Subcommittee and 
Board Member) 
Dr Anne Flood (Board Member)
Ms Maureen Bohan (Board Member)
Dr Margret Fine-Davis (External)

In attendance: 
Ms Caroline Spillane (Director)
Dr Stephanie O’Keeffe (Research and Policy Manager)
Ms Mary Smith (Research Officer)

Administrative Support
Ms Maeve O’Brien

Programmes and Communications 
Subcommittee
This subcommittee advises on and oversees the 
development of the programmes and communications 
campaigns of the Agency.

Members: 
Mr Peter Finnegan (Chairperson of Subcommittee and 
Board Member)
Ms Katharine Bulbulia (Chairperson of Board) 
Ms Geraldine Luddy (Board Member)
Cllr. Sally-Ann Flanagan (Board Member)
 
In attendance: 
Ms Caroline Spillane (Director)
Ms Enda Saul (Programmes and Communications 
Manager) 
Ms Orla McGowan (Education and Information Officer)
Ms Tracy Richardson (Programmes and Communications 
Officer) 

Administrative Support
Ms Sarah Moran 

Siobán O’Brien Green (Health Promotion and Education 
Officer) was in attendance from January to April.   
Stephanie Killoran (Programmes and Communications 
Officer) was in attendance from October to December.  
Roisin Guiry (Administration Assistant) was in attendance 
from May to December.  

Staff Subcommittee
This subcommittee advises the Board on issues relating 
to human resource management in the Agency.

Members: 
Ms Katharine Bulbulia (Chairperson of Subcommittee and 
Chairperson of Board) 
Ms Maureen Bohan (Board Member) 
Ms Caroline Spillane (Director) 
Ms Fiona Larthwell (Administration Manager) (until 
November 2007)
Ms Irene Bergin (Acting Administration Manager) (From 
November 2007)
Ms Lynn Dowling (Staff Representative)

Counselling	(Manual	and	Training)	
Subcommittee
This subcommittee oversees the development of the 
Standardised Framework for Crisis Pregnancy Counselling 
- Practice Guide and the accredited training course in 
crisis pregnancy counselling skills.

Members: 
Ms Rosemary Grant (Board Member)
Dr Anne Flood (Board Member) 

In attendance: 
Ms Caroline Spillane (Director) 
Ms Sarah Ryan (Funding Officer)

Administrative Support
Ms Lynn Dowling

Strategy Subcommittee
This subcommittee was established in December 2006 
to oversee the development of the Agency’s second 
Strategy 2007 – 2011.

Members: 
Ms Katharine Bulbulia (Chairperson of Subcommittee and 
Chairperson of Board)
Dr Anne Flood (Board Member)
Mr Fergal Goodman (Board Member)
Ms Helen Faughnan (Board Member)
Ms Maureen Bohan (Board Member)
Mr Peter Finnegan (Board Member)

In attendance: 
Ms Caroline Spillane (Director)
Dr Stephanie O’Keeffe (Research and Policy Manager)
Ms Enda Saul (Programmes and Communications 
Manager) 
Ms Fiona Larthwell (Administration Manager)

Administrative Support
Ms Lynn Dowling 

44

Appendix 1



Appendix 2: Service Programme Expenditure
FUNDING PROGRAMMES € €

Services and supports for women experiencing crisis pregnancy 2007 2006

CURA Regional Coordinator 64,058  61,594 
CURA Post-natal supports (Pilot Project) 5,000  -
IFPA Speakeasy programme (Pilot Project) 33,700  -
IFPA CS Computerisation - 26,200 
Life Galway Accommodation 101,920  98,000 
Life Galway Rent 4,905  6,000 
Life Cork Administrator 61,939  57,783 
Life National Coordinator 15,397  14,805 
Life Tullamore Service 7,280  7,000 
One Family Information Manager 63,216  57,783 
One Family Education Manager 63,216  57,783 
One Family Crèche Service 31,200  30,000 
One Family Receptionist 33,549  28,119 
Pact 0.5 Social Worker 43,026  33,475 
Sexual Health Centre Cork -  Receptionist 22,022  -
Sexual Health Centre Cork - Medical Service 3,236  -
Treoir Information Officer and Support Grant 74,984  92,100 
Treoir Publications Print - 47,185 
Treoir Information Pack Reprint - 41,000 
Treoir Resource pack for workers with unmarried parents - 31,000 
Treoir Reprint of Migrant Women resource - 30,000 
Treoir Information Pack - Key workers - 20,000 
Teen Parent Support Initiative - National Coordinator - 97,850 
Cúnamh Short Term Fostering  104,780  100,750 
Spring Gardens Care Worker 46,955  42,745 
Spring Gardens – Workshops 445  -
HSE West Family Support Worker 47,650  40,000 
National Parents Council - Primary -’Team up’ Training 37,000  29,580 
Limerick Social Service Council - Sonas Pre-natal 52,312  50,300 
Limerick Social Service Council - Altamira Post-natal 52,104  50,100 
Limerick Social Service Council – Outreach 8,320  8,000 
Limerick Social Service Council – Mamas and Papas City Slickers (Pilot Project) 5,016  -
Teen Parents Support Programme - Louth - Young Fathers (Pilot Project) 15,750  -
HSE North East Area -Teen Parents Support Initiative - 150,000 
HSE Northern Area -Teen Parents Support Initiative - 140,000 
Youth Work Ireland, Galway - Young Mothers in Education (Pilot Project) 13,333  -
Mary Immaculate College - Student Parent Coordinator (Pilot Project) 10,317  -
South West Counselling Centre – Workshops for ESLs (Pilot Project) 13,480  -
Kerry Counselling Centre - Parenting Course (Pilot Project) 7,000  -
Kerry Counselling Centre - Men Support Group (Pilot Project) 4,000  -
Mountwood Fitzgerald Park Community Development Project - Incredible Years (Pilot Project) 5,400  -
Well Woman Reprint of Information leaflets - 13,043 
Well Woman Intercultural Training - 750 
Well Woman Premises refurbishment - 20,000 
Distribution of the Directory of Supported Accommodation - 450 
Youthreach Roscommon (Pilot Project) 3,750  -

 1,056,260  1,483,395
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Core funding

CURA Core Counselling 637,322  612,805 
CURA Outreach 10,000  -
IFPA Core Counselling 341,403  173,272 
Life Core Counselling 168,916  162,419 
Well Woman Core Counselling 196,843  135,456 
One Family Core Counselling 150,268  90,793 
PACT Core Counselling 75,823  60,522 
Advertising of Counselling Services 68,000  66,473

  1,648,575  1,301,740
 
Counselling services

IFPA Monaghan, Gorey 18,000  10,000 
IFPA Counselling Coordination 75,765  72,851 
IFPA Post Termination Counselling 49,174  38,000 
IFPA Counselling - 160,000 
IFPA Training & Supervision 10,873  8,940 
Life Counselling 2/3 post 36,528  35,123 
Life Counselling 1/3 post 9,275  -
Life Voluntary Workers Supervision 15,600  15,000 
Life Accreditation Training 5,200  5,000 
Well Woman Counselling - 44,300 
Well Woman Post-Termination Counselling 15,288  14,700 
One Family Counselling - 41,800 
One Family Training and Supervision 10,150  9,760 
PACT Counselling Improvements - 12,772 
PACT Training and Supervision 6,641  -
PACT Cavan pilot 40,449  -
Portiuncula Hospital Counselling (Ballinasloe Crisis Pregnancy Support Service) 124,800  120,000 
Mayo General Hospital Counselling (Mayo Crisis Pregnancy Support Service) 85,454  76,400 
Sexual Health Centre Cork Counselling 72,435  90,098 
Sexual Health Centre Cork Training and Supervision 7,560  -
HSE Midlands Counselling (Midlands Crisis Pregnancy Support Service) 86,112  82,800 
HSE Midlands - Pilot Crisis Pregnancy Counselling for Men 3,667  -
HSE South - West Cork 54,887  12,500 
HSE South – Kerry 45,070  3,700 
HSE South - Youth Health Service Counselling 34,650  -
Cúnamh Training and Supervision 3,120  3,000 
Femplus Medical Clinic Pilot Counselling and Medical Service 12,700  -
Consultation day with Service Providers 972  -

 824,370  856,744
 
Prevention of crisis pregnancy

HSE South - Youth Health Service Family Planning (Youth Health Centre) 297,450  300,000 
HSE SE - Squashy Couch 190,376  150,000 
The Zone Café 55,299  33,000 
Tallaght Youth Service 48,177  33,000 
Blanchardstown Youth Service - Male Teenage Health Initiative (Pilot Project) 26,072  -
Carrick on Suir Neighbourhood Youth Project (Pilot Project) 16,224  -
Sexual Health Centre Cork Parents’ Education (Pilot Project) 13,500  -
Newbridge & Dun Laoghaire Community Training Centres (Pilot Project) 24,500  -
Letterkenny Women’s Centre (Pilot Project) 16,875  -
Limerick Youth Service (Pilot Project) 6,800  -
University of Limerick Sexual Health Clinic 20,280  19,500 
Well Woman Emergency Contraception 6,240  6,000 
HSE South East-’Respect’ peer-led sex education project - 72,710

  721,792  614,210 
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New developments

Counselling Module Roll-out 173,471  70,420 
Related Projects: Toolkit for New Services 53,893  -

 227,364  70,420
 

Post crisis pregnancy services and supports

IFPA Medical Check (Post Termination) 21,155  13,820 
IFPA Post-termination support group - 9,800 
Well Woman Medical Check (Post Termination) 9,465  7,800 
Sexual Health Centre Cork Medical Check (Post Termination) 8,712  11,200 
HSE Midlands Medical Check (Post Termination) 45  -

 39,377  42,620 

TOTAL	FUNDING	BY	THE	AGENCY	 4,517,738		 4,369,129	
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Appendix 2b: Funding Call 2007 – Pilot Projects
   € 
 2007
Blanchardstown Youth Service - Male Teenage Health Initiative 26,072 
Carrick on Suir Neighbourhood Youth Project  - Various Support Programmes 16,224 
CURA Post-natal Supports Project 5,000 
IFPA - Speakeasy Programme for Parents 33,700 
Kerry Counselling Centre - Men Support Group  4,000 
Kerry Counselling Centre - Parenting Course 7,000 
Letterkenny Women’s Centre – Sexual Health Education Programme 16,875 
Limerick Social Service Council – Mamas and Papas Limerick City Slickers 5,016 
Limerick Youth Service - Safer Teen Open Programme 6,800 
Mary Immaculate College - Student Parent Coordinator Post 10,317 
Mountwood Fitzgerald Park Community Development Project - Incredible Years Project 5,400 
Newbridge & Dun Laoghaire Community Training Centres - The Real Deal 24,500 
Sexual Health Centre Cork - Parents’ Education Project 13,500 
South West Counselling Centre – Getting Real Programme 13,480 
Teen Parents Support Programme - Louth - Young Fathers Project 15,750 
Youth Work Ireland, Galway - Young Mothers in Education Project 13,333
Youthreach Roscommon  - Education Programme 3,750 

TOTAL	FUNDING	BY	THE	AGENCY	UNDER	FUNDING	CALL	2007	 220,717

Appendix 3: A Code of Ethics for the Crisis  
Pregnancy Agency
The purpose of this Code of Ethics is to articulate the principles that guide the Crisis Pregnancy Agency’s decision-
making in light of its responsibilities towards its diverse constituencies.  These principles will guide the decisions that 
are made regarding the development, funding and support of projects and the Crisis Pregnancy Agency’s research 
(including the research it funds).  The principles will form part of the frame of reference when proposals for funding 
are being assessed.  

In its approach to its work, and in supporting the work of others, the Agency will:

 be respectful of and non-judgmental regarding the choices made by women who face crisis pregnancy; 

 be respectful of a woman’s autonomy and her right to privacy (within the constraints of the law);

 be guided by reliable research and good practice in all areas of our work;

 endeavour to work collaboratively with agencies working in the field;

 strive to promote policies that are respectful of the diverse experiences and viewpoints that exist on this issue;

 be supportive of agencies which:

–  use professional approaches to counsel, educate and provide information to the public;

–  fully inform clients of their organisation’s ethos; 

–  promote informed decision-making in resolving issues regarding  crisis pregnancy and related sexual health 
matters;

–  use reliable research and responsible monitoring and evaluation methods to ensure accountability and good 
practice;

–  work to promote equity of access and quality for clients;

–  provide referrals when the information or service requested by the client is not available.
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